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NOTICE 

 
 

NOTICE is hereby given that the 5th Annual General Meeting of the Members of “DME 

DEVELOPMENT LIMITED’’ will be held on Monday, the 22nd day of December 2025 at 11:00 A.M. 

at a shorter notice at the registered office of the Company situated at Plot No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, 

Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075, to transact the following businesses: 

 

ORDINARY BUSINESS: 

 

Item No. 1: 

 

To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statement as defined u/s 2(40) of the 

Companies Act, 2013 consisting of Audited Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2025, Statement of Profit 

and Loss, Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that date and along with the Reports of the 

Board of Directors and the Statutory Auditors and the comments of C&AG and management replies 

thereto.  

 

Item No. 2: 

 

To appoint Directors in place of Shri Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali Krishna Rajendrakumar (DIN: 

09494456) and Sh. Vinay Kumar (DIN: 02174687) who retires by rotation and being eligible offers 

themselves for re-appointment. 

 

Item No. 3: 

 

To ratify and fix the remuneration of the Statutory Auditors appointed by the Comptroller & 

Auditor General of India (C&AG) for the Financial Year 2025-26. 

 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution as an 

Ordinary Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 139, 141, 142 of the Companies Act, 

2013 (“Act”) and other applicable provisions, if any, of the said Act and Companies (Audit and 

Auditors) Rules, 2014 made thereunder and other applicable rules, if any, under the said Act 

(including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), M/s A A 

A G & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (ICAI Firm Registration No. FRN 004924N), who have been 

appointed as Statutory Auditors by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India (CAG) for the 

financial year 2025-26 and from whom written consent to act as Statutory Auditors along with the 

certificate pursuant to Section 141(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) read with Rule 4 of 

Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 has been received and who have confirmed their 

eligibility in terms of provisions of Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013, be and are hereby 

approved and ratified as the Statutory Auditors of the Company upto the conclusion of the 6th Annual 

General Meeting of the Company to be held in the year 2025 at a fees of Rs. 1,21,000/- (Rs One 

Lakh Twenty One Thousand only) (excluding GST). 
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SPECIAL BUSINESS: 

 

Item No. 4: 

 

Appointment of Secretarial Auditor 

 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution as an 

Ordinary Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 and other applicable provisions, if 

any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), read with Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment & 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, (including any statutory modification(s) or re-

enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force) and Regulation 24A of the Securities and Exchange 

Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (“SEBI Listing 

Regulations”), other applicable laws/statutory provisions, if any, as amended from time to time, and 

based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee and as approved by the Board of Directors of 

the Company, M/s Nityanand Singh & Co., Practising Company Secretaries (Peer Review Number: 

1188/21) be and are hereby appointed as Secretarial Auditors of the Company for term of five 

consecutive years commencing from financial year 2025-26 till financial year 2029-30, to conduct 

the Secretarial Audit of the Company and to furnish the Secretarial Audit Report, at such fees, plus 

applicable taxes and other out-of-pocket expenses as may be mutually agreed upon between the 

Board of Directors of the Company and the Secretarial Auditors.” 

 

Item No. 5: 

 

Re-appointment of Smt. Sudha Damodar (DIN: 07755170) as an Independent Director of the 

Company 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 150 and 152 and other applicable 

provisions, if any, read along with Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) [including any 

statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force], the Companies 

(Appointment and Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 and Regulation 17 and any other 

applicable provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘SEBI Listing Regulations’), as amended from time to 

time, Smt. Sudha Damodar (DIN: 07755170), who was appointed as an Independent Director of the 

Company for a term of 3 (three) consecutive years commencing from December 23, 2022 upto 

December 22, 2025 (both days inclusive) and who being eligible for re-appointment as an 

Independent Director has given her consent along with a declaration that she meets the criteria for 

independence under Section 149(6) of the Act and the rules framed thereunder and Regulation 

16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations and in respect of whom the Company has received a Notice 

in writing from a Member under Section 160(1) of the Act proposing her candidature for the office of 

Director and based on the recommendation of the Board of Directors of the Company, be and is 

hereby re-appointed as an Independent Director of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to 

hold office for a second term of 1 (One) year on the Board of the Company commencing from 

December 23, 2025 upto December 22, 2026 (both days inclusive).  

 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company (including its Committee 

thereof) be and is hereby authorised to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be 

necessary, expedient and desirable for the purpose of giving effect to this resolution.” 
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Item No. 6: 

 

Re-appointment of Sh. Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 10094828) as an Independent Director of the 

Company 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 150 and 152 and other applicable 

provisions, if any, read along with Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) [including any 

statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force], the Companies 

(Appointment and Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 and Regulation 17 and any other 

applicable provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘SEBI Listing Regulations’), as amended from time to 

time, Sh. Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 10094828), who was appointed as an Independent Director of the 

Company for a term of 3 (three) consecutive years commencing from April 15, 2023 upto April 14, 

2026 (both days inclusive) and who being eligible for re-appointment as an Independent Director has 

given his consent along with a declaration that he meets the criteria for independence under Section 

149(6) of the Act and the rules framed thereunder and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing 

Regulations and in respect of whom the Company has received a Notice in writing from a Member 

under Section 160(1) of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director and based on the 

recommendation of the Board of Directors of the Company, be and is hereby re-appointed as an 

Independent Director of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to hold office for a second term 

of 1 (One) year on the Board of the Company commencing from April 15, 2026 upto April 14, 2027 

(both days inclusive).  

 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company (including its Committee 

thereof) be and is hereby authorised to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be 

necessary, expedient and desirable for the purpose of giving effect to this resolution.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi  

Date:  16.12.2025 

By Order of the Board of Directors 

For DME Development Limited 

 

 

Sd/- 

 

 (Prachi Mittal) 

Company Secretary 

ACS: 40236 
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NOTE: 

 
1. The relevant explanatory statement pursuant to Sect ion 102 of  the Companies 

Act, 2013, in respect of  Special Business,  as set out above is annexed hereto.  
 

2. General ly, a Member entit led to attend and vote at the AGM is ent it led to 

appoint a proxy to at tend and vote instead of  himself /  herself  and such proxy 

need not be a Member of  the Company. The Proxy Form and Attendance Sl ip 

including the Route Map of  the venue of  the AGM are annexed to this Notice.  

 

3. Proxies, in order to be effect ive, must be received at the Company’s Registered 

Off ice. Members are requested to note that a perso n can act as a proxy on 

behalf  of  members not exceeding 50 and holding in the aggregate not more 

than 10% of the total share capital of  the Company carrying vot ing r ights. In 

case a proxy is proposed to be appointed by a member holding more than 10% 

of the total share capital of  the Company carrying voting r ights, then such 

proxy shal l not act as a proxy for any other person or shareholder. A proxy so 

appointed shal l not have any r ight to speak at the meeting.  

 

4. Pursuant to Sect ion 112 and Sect ion 113 of  the  Companies Act, 2013, 

representat ives of  the Members may be appointed for the purpose of 

part ic ipation in the 5 t h  AGM who can cast  their vote during the AGM.  

 

5. In compliance with MCA and SEBI Circulars, owing to the dif f icult ies involved 

in dispatching of  physical copies of  the Annual Report,  the Annual Report and 

Notice of  AGM are being sent in electronic mode only to Members whose e -

mail address is registered with the Company or the Depository Part ic ipant(s).  

 
6. Annual l ist ing fee for the year 2025-26 has been paid to al l Stock Exchanges. 

Also, the Annual Custodian Fee for the year 2025 -26 was paid to both 

Depositor ies i.e. Central Depository Services (India) Limited and Nat ional 

Secur it ies Depository Limited  

 

7. Inspect ion of  documents by Members: Relevant doc uments referred to in the 

Notice and the accompanying Statement are open for inspection by the 

members at the Registered Off ice of  the Company on al l working days, during 

business hours up to the date of  the Meet ing . 

 

8. The Register of  Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and their  

shareholding, maintained under Section 170 of  Companies Act , 2013 and the 

Register of  Contracts or Arrangements in which Directors are interested, 

maintained under  Section 189 of  the Companies Act, 2013, wi l l  be available 

electronically for inspection by the Members during the Meet ing.  

 

Members desirous of  obtaining any relevant information with regard to the 

accounts of  the Company or any other matter placed  at the Meet ing are 

requested to send their requests in writ ing to the Company before the date of 

the Meeting, so as to enable the Company to keep the information ready.  

 

Information of Directors pursuant to Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 



DME Development Limited 

7 

 

2015 and Secretarial Standard –  2 on General Meeting :  At the 5 t h  AGM of 

the Company, Shr i Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali Krishna Rajendrakumar (DIN: 

09494456) and Sh. Vinay Kumar (DIN: 02174687) Directors, ret ires by rotat ion 

pursuant to the provisions of  Section 152 of  the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”), 

read with Companies (Appointment and Qualif icat ion of  Directors) Rules, 2014 

and being eligible, seeks re -appointment.  Further, the re-appointment of  Smt. 

Sudha Damodar and Sh. Rajesh Ranjan, the Independent Directors for their  

second term has also been proposed at the 5 t h  AGM of the Company.  
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT 

(Pursuant to section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013) 

 

The following Explanatory Statement sets out all the material facts relating to the Special Business 

mentioned in the Notice and should be taken as forming part of the Notice: 

 

Item No. 4: Appointment of Secretarial Auditor 

 

The Board at its meeting held on 16th December, 2025, based on recommendation of the Audit 

Committee, after evaluating and considering various factors such as industry experience, 

competency of the audit team, efficiency in conduct of audit, independence, etc., has approved the 

appointment of M/s Nityanand Singh & Co, Practicing Company Secretaries, a peer reviewed firm 

as the Secretarial Auditors of the Company for a term of five consecutive years commencing from 

FY 2025-26 till FY 2029-30, subject to approval of the Members.  

 

The appointment of Secretarial Auditors shall be in terms of the amended Regulation 24A of the 

SEBI Listing Regulations vide SEBI Notification dated December 12, 2024 and provisions of Section 

204 of the Act and Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 

Personnel) Rules, 2014. M/s Nityanand Singh & Co. has been Peer Reviewed and Quality Reviewed 

by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI), ensuring the highest standards in 

professional practices.  

 

M/s Nityanand Singh & Co., has confirmed that the firm is not disqualified and is eligible to be 

appointed as Secretarial Auditors in terms of Regulation 24A of the SEBI Listing Regulations. The 

services to be rendered by M/s Nityanand Singh & Co. as Secretarial Auditors is within the purview 

of the said regulation read with SEBI circular no. SEBI/ HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/CIR/P/2024/185 dated 

December 31, 2024. 

 

The proposed fees in connection with the secretarial audit shall be Rs. 1,65,000/- (Rupees One Lakh 

Sixty Five thousand only) plus applicable taxes and other out-of-pocket expenses for 5 years payable 

on yearly basis as per the quoted amount for FY 2025-26 to 2029-30.  

 

The Board recommends the Ordinary Resolution as set out in Item No. 4 of this Notice for approval 

of the Members. None of the Directors and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and/or 

their relatives are concerned or interested, in the Resolution set out in Item No. 4 of this Notice. 

 
Item No. 5: Re-appointment of Smt. Sudha Damodar (DIN: 07755170) as an Independent 

Director of the Company 

 

Smt. Sudha Damodar (DIN: 07755170) is currently an Independent Director of the Company, 

Chairperson of the Risk Management Committee and Nomination & Remuneration Committee. She 

is also the Member of Stakeholders Relationship Committee and Audit Committee. 

  

Smt. Sudha Damodar was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company by the Board at 

their meeting held on 23.12.2022 and subsequently regularized at the 2nd Annual General Meeting 

of the Company held on December 26, 2022 for a period of 3 (three) consecutive years commencing 

from December 23, 2022 upto December 22, 2025 (both days inclusive) and is eligible for re-

appointment for a second term on the Board of the Company. 

  

Based on the recommendation of the Board of Directors at its meeting held on December 16, 2025, 

proposed the re-appointment of Smt. Sudha Damodar as an Independent Director of the Company 
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for a second term of 1 (One) year commencing from December 23, 2025 upto December 22, 

2026 (both days inclusive), not liable to retire by rotation, for the approval of the Members by way of 

a Special Resolution. 

   

The Board taking into consideration the skills, expertise and competencies required for the Board in 

the context of the business and sectors of the Company and based on the performance evaluation, 

concluded and recommended that Smt. Sudha Damodar’s qualifications and the rich experience of 

over three decades in the abovementioned areas meets the skills and capabilities required for the 

role of Independent Director of the Company. The Board is of the opinion that Smt. Sudha Damodar 

continues to possess the identified core skills, expertise and competencies fundamental for effective 

functioning in her role as an Independent Director of the Company and her continued association 

would be of immense benefit to the Company. 

  

The Company has in terms of Section 160(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) received a notice 

from a Member proposing her candidature for the office of Director. The Company has received a 

declaration from Smt. Sudha Damodar confirming that she continues to meet the criteria of 

independence as prescribed under Section 149(6) of the Act, read with the rules framed thereunder 

and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘SEBI Listing Regulations’). In terms of Regulation 

25(8) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, Smt. Sudha Damodar has confirmed that she is not aware of 

any circumstance or situation which exists or may be reasonably anticipated that could impair or 

impact her ability to discharge her duties.  

  

Further, Smt. Sudha Damodar has confirmed that she is not disqualified from being appointed as 

Director in terms of Section 164 of the Act and has given her consent to act as Director in terms of 

Section 152 of the Act, subject to re-appointment by the Members. Smt. Sudha Damodar has also 

confirmed that she is in compliance with Rules 6(1) and 6(2) of the Companies (Appointment and 

Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014, with respect to her registration with the data bank of 

Independent Directors maintained by the Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs (‘IICA’). Smt. Sudha 

Damodar is exempt from the requirement to undertake online proficiency self-assessment test 

conducted by IICA. 

  

In the opinion of the Board, Smt. Sudha Damodar fulfils the conditions specified in the Act, rules 

thereunder and the SEBI Listing Regulations for re-appointment as an Independent Director and that 

she is independent of the Management.  

  

In compliance with the provisions of Section 149 read with Schedule IV to the Act, Regulation 17 of 

the SEBI Listing Regulations and other applicable provisions of the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, 

the re-appointment of Smt. Sudha Damodar as an Independent Director is now placed for the 

approval of the Members by a Special Resolution. 

  

The Board commends the Special Resolution set out in Item No. 5 of the accompanying Notice for 

approval of the Members. 

  

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMP’) of the Company or their respective 

relatives, except Smt. Sudha Damodar and her relatives, are concerned or interested, financially or 

otherwise, in the resolution set out at Item No. 5 of the accompanying Notice. 

  

Disclosures as required under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI Listing Regulations and Secretarial 

Standard-2 on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India are 

annexed to this Notice. 
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Item No. 6: Re-appointment of Sh. Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 10094828) as an Independent Director 

of the Company 

 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 10094828) is currently an Independent Director of the Company, 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee, Stakeholders Relationship Committee and Corporate Social 

Responsibility Committee. He is also a Member of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 

  

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company, w.e.f., 15.04.2023, 

by the Board at their meeting held on 13.04.2023 and subsequently regularized at the 3rd Annual 

General Meeting of the Company held on December 27, 2023 for a period of 3 (three) consecutive 

years commencing from April 15, 2023 upto April 14, 2026 (both days inclusive) and is eligible for 

re-appointment for a second term on the Board of the Company. 

  

Based on the recommendation of the Board of Directors at its meeting held on December 16, 2025, 

proposed the re-appointment of Sh. Rajesh Ranjan as an Independent Director of the Company for 

a second term of 1 (One) year commencing from April 15, 2026 upto April 14, 2027 (both days 

inclusive), not liable to retire by rotation, for the approval of the Members by way of a Special 

Resolution. 

   

The Board taking into consideration the skills, expertise and competencies required for the Board in 

the context of the business and sectors of the Company and based on the performance evaluation, 

concluded and recommended that Sh. Rajesh Ranjan’s qualifications and the rich experience of over 

20 years in the abovementioned areas meets the skills and capabilities required for the role of 

Independent Director of the Company. The Board is of the opinion that Sh. Rajesh Ranjan continues 

to possess the identified core skills, expertise and competencies fundamental for effective 

functioning in his role as an Independent Director of the Company and his continued association 

would be of immense benefit to the Company. 

  

The Company has in terms of Section 160(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) received a notice 

from a Member proposing his candidature for the office of Director. The Company has received a 

declaration from Sh. Rajesh Ranjan confirming that he continues to meet the criteria of 

independence as prescribed under Section 149(6) of the Act, read with the rules framed thereunder 

and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘SEBI Listing Regulations’). In terms of Regulation 

25(8) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, Sh. Rajesh Ranjan has confirmed that he is not aware of any 

circumstance or situation which exists or may be reasonably anticipated that could impair or impact 

his ability to discharge his duties. 

  

Further, Sh. Rajesh Ranjan has confirmed that he is not disqualified from being appointed as Director 

in terms of Section 164 of the Act and has given his consent to act as Director in terms of Section 

152 of the Act, subject to re-appointment by the Members. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan has also confirmed 

that he is in compliance with Rules 6(1) and 6(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Qualifications 

of Directors) Rules, 2014, with respect to his registration with the data bank of Independent Directors 

maintained by the Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs (‘IICA’).  

  

In the opinion of the Board, Sh. Rajesh Ranjan fulfils the conditions specified in the Act, rules 

thereunder and the SEBI Listing Regulations for re-appointment as an Independent Director and that 

he is independent of the Management.  

 

In compliance with the provisions of Section 149 read with Schedule IV to the Act, Regulation 17 of 

the SEBI Listing Regulations and other applicable provisions of the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, 
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the re-appointment of Sh. Rajesh Ranjan as an Independent Director is now placed for the approval 

of the Members by a Special Resolution. 

  

The Board commends the Special Resolution set out in Item No. 6 of the accompanying Notice for 

approval of the Members. 

  

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMP’) of the Company or their respective 

relatives, except Sh. Rajesh Ranjan and his relatives, are concerned or interested, financially or 

otherwise, in the resolution set out at Item No. 6 of the accompanying Notice. 

  

Disclosures as required under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI Listing Regulations and Secretarial 

Standard-2 on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India are 

annexed to this Notice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi  

Date: 16.12.2025 

By Order of the Board of Directors 

For DME Development Limited 

 

 

Sd/- 

 

 (Prachi Mittal) 

Company Secretary 

ACS: 40236 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



DME Development Limited 

12 

 

 
ROUTE MAP FOR AGM VENUE 
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PROXY FORM 

[Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 19(3) of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014] 

 

CIN : U45202DL2020GOI368878 
Name of the Company : DME DEVELOPMENT LIMITED  
Registered Office : G-5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka Delhi – 110075 

 

Name of the Member :  
Residential Address :  
Email Id :  
Folio No / Client ID :  
DP ID :   

 
I/We, being the member (s) of ______________________ shares of the above named Company, 
hereby appoint 

1. Name  :  

 Address :  

 Email Id :  

 Signature :  

 or failing him   
 

2. Name  :  

 Address :  

 Email Id :  

 Signature :  

 or failing him   
 

3. Name  :  

 Address :  

 Email Id :  

 Signature :  

 or failing him   
 
as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, to be held on Monday, the 22nd day of December 2025 at 11:00 A.M. at 
shorter notice at the registered office of the Company situated at Plot No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, 
Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075, and at any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are 
indicated below: 
 

Resolution 
No. 

Particulars Ordinary/Special 
Resolution 

1 To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial 
Statement as defined u/s 2(40) of the Companies Act, 2013 
consisting of Audited Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2025, 
Statement of Profit and Loss, Cash Flow Statement for the 
period ended on that date and along with the Reports of the 
Board of Directors and the Statutory Auditors and the 
comments of C&AG and management replies thereto. 

Ordinary 

2 To appoint Director in place of Shri Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat 
Murali Krishna Rajendrakumar (DIN: 09494456) and Sh. 
Vinay Kumar (DIN: 02174687) who retires by rotation and 
being eligible offers themselves for re-appointment. 

Ordinary 
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3 To fix the remuneration of the Statutory Auditors appointed by 
the Comptroller & Auditor General of India (C&AG) for the 
Financial Year 2025-26. 

Ordinary 

4. Appointment of Secretarial Auditor Ordinary 
5. Re-appointment of Smt. Sudha Damodar (DIN: 07755170) as 

an Independent Director of the Company 
Special 

6. Re-appointment of Sh. Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 10094828) as an 
Independent Director of the Company 

Special 

 
 
Signed this __________ day of ________________, 2025 
Signature of the Shareholder _____________________ 
Signature of Proxy holder _________________________ 

 
 
Note: This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed, stamped signed and 
deposited at the registered office of the Company, well before the commencement of the Annual 
General Meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Affix 
Revenue 
Stamp 
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ATTENDANCE SLIP 

 

Members or their proxies are requested to present this form for admission, duly signed in accordance 

with their specimen signatures registered with the Company. 

 

DP Id 
 

Client Id 
 

Regd. Folio No. 
 

No. of Shares 
 

 

 

Name(s) and address of the shareholder in full ________________________________________. 

 

 

I/we hereby record my/our presence at the 5th Annual General Meeting of the Company being held 

on Monday, the 22nd day of December, 2025 at the registered office of the Company situated at Plot 

No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075 at 11.00 a.m. 

 

 

 

Please (√) in the box 

 

MEMBER □   PROXY □ 

 

 

__________________________  

Signature of Shareholder / Proxy 
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Annexure – I 

 

Details of Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment of the appointment as per 

Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 

2015 and Secretarial Standard-2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India: 

 

Name of the 

Director 

Sh. NRVVMK 

Rajendrakumar 

Sh. Vinay Kumar, 

IAS 

Smt. Sudha 

Damodar 

Sh. Rajesh 

Ranjan 

Directors 

Identification  

Number (DIN) 

09494456 02174687 07755170 10094828 

Date of Birth 01-04-1970 03-10-1971 17-01-1956 15-11-1960 

Date of 

Appointment  

16-02-2022 22-05-2024 23-12-2022 15-04-2023 

Qualification Ph. D. in 

Economics, 

Master’s degree 

in Business 

Administration 

and Public 

Management 

Post Graduate in 

Physics 

Post Graduate in 

Political Science, 

Certified 

Associate of 

Indian Institute of 

Bankers, Diploma 

in Investment, 

Risk and Treasury 

Management. 

Masters in 

English 

Experience & 

Expertise in 

specific 

functional 

areas 

Experience in the 
field of Finance, 
Public Debt 
Management, 
Payment 
Systems, 
Currency 
Management, 
Bank Supervision, 
Foreign 
Exchange 
Reserve 
Management, and 
Financial Markets 
Policy. Public 
Financial 
Management. 

Experience in the 
field of Planning, 
Financing, 
Construction, 
Operation and 
Land Acquisition. 
He held multiple 
senior roles in the 
Bihar state 
government—
serving as 
Secretary across 
several 
departments, 
Mission Director in 
the Cabinet 
Secretariat, and 
District Magistrate 
in multiple districts. 

Experience of 
more than 33 
years in the field 
of Public Sector 
Bank 
Restructuring, 
Anti Money 
Laundering, 
Banking policy 
Regulation etc. 

More than 20 
years’ 
experience in 
the area of 
Finance, Law, 
Management, 
Sales, 
Marketing, 
Administration, 
Research, 
Corporate 
Governance and 
Technical 
Operations. 

Terms and 

conditions 

for 

appointment / 

re-

appointment 

As per the 

Appointment 

letter 

As per the 

Appointment letter 

As per the 

Appointment 

letter 

As per the 

Appointment 

letter 

Remuneration 

last  

drawn 

Nil Nil A sitting fee of Rs. 

50,000/- per 

meeting for the 

Board and 

Committee 

meeting as well. 

A sitting fee of 

Rs. 50,000/- per 

meeting for the 

Board and 

Committee 

meeting as well. 
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Shareholding 

in the 

company as 

on 31.03.2025 

(in individual 

capacity of on 

beneficial 

basis for any 

other person) 

Nil 1 Equity Share as 

a Nominee of NHAI 

Nil Nil 

Relationship 

with other 

Directors and  

KMPs of the 

Company 

None None None None 

Number of 

Board 

meetings 

attended  

during the 

year 

6 3 6 6 

List of 

Companies in 

which outside 

directorships 

in Indian 

Companies 

held as on 

31.03.2025 

1. National 

Highways Infra 

Investment 

Managers Private 

Limited 

2. NHIT Western 

Projects Private 

Limited 

3. National 

Highways 

Logistics 

Management 

Limited 

1. National 

Highways Infra 

Investment 

Managers Private 

Limited 

2. New Mangalore 

Port Road 

Company Limited 

3. Vishakhapatnam 

Port Road 

Company Limited 

4. Mumbai-JNPT 

Port Road 

Company Limited 

5. Chennai-Ennore 

Port Road 

Company Limited. 

6. Calcatta-Haldia 

Port Road 

Company Limited. 

7. Mormugao Port 

Road Company 

Limited 

8. National 

Highways Logistics 

Management 

Limited 

9. Tuticorin Port 

Road Company 

Limited 

NIL 1. Iffco-Tokio 

General 

Insurance 

Company 

Limited   
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10. Paradip Port 

Road Company 

Limited 

Membership/ 

Chairmanship 

of 

Committees 

of other Board 

National 

Highways Infra 

Investment 

Managers 

Private Limited 

 

1.  Member: Audit 

Committee 

National 

Highways Infra 

Investment 

Managers Private 

Limited 

 

1. Member : 

Stakeholders 

Relationship 

Committee 

NIL IFFCO-Tokio 
General 
Insurance Co. 
Ltd. 
 
Chairman:  
1. Audit 
Committee & 
2. Policyholders’ 
Protection and 
Grievance 
Redressal and 
Claim Monitoring 
Committee 
 
Member:  
1. Nomination & 
Remuneration 
Committee 

Justification 
for choosing 
the candidate 
as 
Independent 
director 

- - Mrs. Sudha 

Damodar, is a 

person of integrity 

and possesses 

relevant expertise 

and is eligible for 

the position of an 

Independent 

Director of the 

Company and 

fulfils the 

conditions 

specified by the 

Companies Act, 

2013 including 

Rules framed 

thereunder and he 

is independent of 

the management 

of the Company.  

 

33 years in the 
areas relating to 
weak public 
sector bank 
restructuring, Anti 
Money 
Laundering, 
Banking 
policy/regulation 
pertaining to 
Private Sector 
Banks, Licensing 
of Payment Banks 

Sh. Rajesh 
Ranjan, is a 
person of 
integrity and 
possesses 
relevant 
expertise and is 
eligible for the 
position of an 
Independent 
Director of the 
Company and 
fulfils the 
conditions 
specified by the 
Companies Act, 
2013 including 
Rules framed 
thereunder and 
he is 
independent of 
the management 
of the Company.  
 
Sh. Rajesh 

Ranjan is a 

retired Indian 

Police Services 

(IPS) Officer and 

was working as 

Director General 

of Central 

Industrial 

Security Force 

(CISF), Ministry 
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and Small 
Finance Banks, 
Regulation of 
RRBs, etc., and 
she being 
independent 
director on the 
Board of reputed 
Companies, the 
Board of Directors 
is of the opinion 
that it would be in 
the interest of the 
Company to 
appoint her as an 
Independent 
Director 

of Home Affairs, 

GOI. During his 

tenure, he has 

worked with 

Border Security 

Force (BSF), 

Ministry of Home 

Affairs, GOI. He 

has been 

associated as an 

Assistant 

Director, 

Financial High 

Tech Crime with 

Interpol General 

Secretariat, 

France and was 

also associated 

with Central 

Bureau of 

Investigation 

(CBI). 
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DIRECTORS REPORT 

 

Dear Members, 

 

Your directors are pleased to present the 5th Annual Report on the performance of your Company 
along with audited financial statements, Auditors’ Report, Report of Secretarial Auditor and review 
of financial statements by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the Financial Year ended 
31st March 2025. 
 

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW 
 

India’s road network, spanning over 63 lakh kilometers, with National Highways (NH) comprising 

146,204 km, is critical to its economic development, connecting rural areas to urban centers, 

facilitating trade and commerce, and promoting regional development. The network has seen 

significant growth since 2014, reaching the second-largest in the world, and focuses on projects like 

expressways under the Bharatmala Pariyojana to improve efficiency, reduce travel times, and 

enhance economic growth. 

 

With the rapid development and expansion of road networks across the country, investment 

opportunities in logistics parks, industrial clusters, and special corridors are rising at an exponential 

rate. India is continuing to invest in expanding and upgrading its road infrastructure to meet the 

growing demands of transportation and economic activities. The expanding road network is a key 

engine for economic progress, improving access to markets, jobs, and healthcare, thereby boosting 

social inclusion and economic productivity. 

 

Road transport indeed plays a pivotal role in the economic development of a country, influencing 

various aspects such as trade, employment, industrial growth, and overall mobility. Efficient road 

infrastructure enables the swift movement of goods and people, which directly impacts sectors like 

agriculture, manufacturing, and services, thus enhancing productivity and fostering economic 

growth. 

 

Background & Operations:  
 

DME Development Limited (DMEDL) was registered on 29th August, 2020 as a Special Purpose 

Vehicle (SPV) to finance the construction and operation of the Delhi–Mumbai Expressway as per 

the concession agreement executed between NHAI and DMEDL which covers a length of 1277 

kilometers. The project is being executed in 52 packages, out of which 31 are under Engineering, 

Procurement and Construction model or EPC projects (Sohna–Vadodara segment) while the 

remaining 21 are Hybrid Annuity Model or HAM projects. The HAM Model is a hybrid or mixture of 

EPC Model and BOT Model in which the Government of India will pay 40% of the project cost in 

trenches linked to milestones, while the balance 60% cost will be arranged by the contractors. 

 

The Delhi-Mumbai Expressway is a landmark project that will drastically reduce travel time between 

two of India's largest cities and improve overall connectivity in the country. As a part of the broader 

Bharatmala Pariyojana (National Highways Development Project), it will not only provide a faster 

route for vehicles but also stimulate economic growth, improve logistics, and contribute to regional 

development in multiple states. With its advanced design and expected impact, the expressway is 

poised to be a game-changer for transportation in India. 

 

Progress and Status of Project 

 

The Delhi–Mumbai Expressway is one of India's most ambitious infrastructure projects, spanning 

approximately 1,386 kilometers and aiming to significantly reduce the travel time between the 
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national capital, Delhi, and the financial capital, Mumbai. The expressway traverses six states—

Delhi, Haryana, Rajasthan, Madhya Pradesh, Gujarat, and Maharashtra—and is designed as an 

eight-lane access-controlled greenfield expressway, with provisions to expand to 12 lanes in the 

future. Once fully operational, the expressway is expected to cut travel time between Delhi and 

Mumbai from the current 24 hours to just 12 hours, reducing the overall distance by about 180 

kilometers through a straighter, high-speed alignment. 

 

As of October 2025, approximately 82% of the physical construction of the expressway has been 

completed, amounting to over 1,130 kilometers of built road. Of this, around 756 kilometers are 

already operational and open to vehicular traffic. Key stretches currently in use include the corridor 

from Sohna in Haryana to Sawai Madhopur via Dausa in Rajasthan, along with significant sections 

in Madhya Pradesh and Gujarat. The Vadodara–Bharuch section in Gujarat is also operational. 

These operational segments have already started to ease regional connectivity and have brought 

significant time and cost savings to both passenger and freight traffic in those regions. 

 

The expressway remains a cornerstone of India's infrastructure modernization agenda. Once fully 

completed, the Delhi–Mumbai Expressway is expected to drastically improve inter-state logistics, 

reduce vehicular emissions through more efficient travel, and stimulate economic development along 

its corridor. Authorities continue to monitor and push progress on the lagging sections, with the goal 

of achieving phased completion through 2026. 

 

Financial Highlights: 
 

Particulars Amount  
(In Lakhs) 
2024-25 

Amount  
(In Lakhs) 
2023-24 

Revenue from Operations 2,21,012.77 - 

Other Income 59.91 0.05 

Total Revenue  10.00 

   

Employee Benefits Expense 20.25 10.30 

Financial Costs 2,27,899.45 - 

Administrative Expenses 103.41 84.77 

Total expenses excluding depreciation 2,28,023.11 95.07 

Profit/(Loss) before Depreciation & Tax (6,950.43) (95.02) 

Less-Depreciation - - 

Profit /(Loss) after depreciation (6,950.43) (95.02) 

Less- Prior Period adjustments - - 

Profit/(Loss) after Prior Period adjustments (6,950.43) (95.02) 

Less: Current Tax - - 

Less: Deferred tax 1,807.11 24.71 

Less: Tax for earlier years - - 

Profit/(Loss) after tax (5,143.32) (70.31) 

 

During the year under review, your Company incurred a loss of Rs. 5,143.32 lakhs as against a loss 

of Rs. 70.31 lakhs for the previous year. 

 

Key Financial Ratios in terms of Schedule V of Securities and Exchange Board of India 

(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 are as under: 
 

S. 

No. 

Particulars FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24 

a. Current Ratio 0.02 0.03 

b. Debt-Equity Ratio 8.35 7.76 
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c. Net Profit Ratio (0.02) Nil 

d. Return on Equity  (0.01) Nil 

e. Total Debts to Total Assets 0.82 0.86 

f. Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A N/A 

g. Inventory Turnover Ratio N/A N/A 

h. Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio N/A N/A 

i. Trade Payables Turnover Ratio N/A N/A 

j. Net Capital Turnover Ratio N/A N/A 

k. Return on Capital Employed Nil Nil 

 

Note: Reasons for variance of more than 25% in above ratios: Change is on account of increase in current 

liabilities mainly on account of increase of balance payable to NHAI towards reimbursement of expenditure for 

DME project. 

 

Reserves: 
 

No amount has been proposed to be transferred to reserves during the year. The Company has 

incurred a loss of Rs. (5,143.32) lakhs during the F.Y. 2024-25. 

 

Capital & Debt Structure: 
 

The Company was incorporated on 29th August, 2020. The Authorised Share Capital of the Company 

is Rs. 30,000/- crore and the Paid-up share capital of the Company as on 31.03.2025 is Rs. 5,385/- 

crore.  

 

A. Issue of shares 

During the year under review following changes took place in capital structure of the Company: 
 

Name of Allottee Date of 

Allotment 

Number of 

shares 

Allotted 

Total 

Amount Paid (in 

Rs.) (including 

Premium) 

Nominal 

Amount per 

share 

(in Rs.) 

National Highways 

Authority of India 

21.06.2024 1,51,00,000 1,51,00,00,000 100 

 

At the end of the financial year the paid-up share capital of the Company stands at Rs. 

53,85,00,00,000/-. 

 

B. Buy Back of Securities 

The Company has not bought back any of its securities during the year under review. 

 

C. Sweat Equity 

The Company has not issued any Sweat Equity Shares during the year under review. 

 

D. Bonus Shares 

No Bonus Shares were issued during the year under review. 

 

E. Employees Stock Option Plan 

The Company has not provided any Stock Option Scheme to the employees. 

 

F. Shares with Differential Rights 

The Company has not issue any Equity shares with Differential Rights. 
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Debt 

 

Rupee Term Loans from Banks: 

 

As on March 31, 2025, the Company’s total outstanding Rupee Term Loans from banks stood at Rs. 

26,32,916.72 lakhs.  

 

However, as on the date of this report, the Company has fully repaid all its Rupee Term Loan 

obligations, and there are no outstanding balances in this regard. 

 

Non-Convertible Debentures (“NCDs”) 
 

Listed NCDs of face value ₹ 1,00,000 each 
 

During the period under review the Company issued Secured, Non-Convertible, Non-Cumulative, 

Taxable Bonds (Debentures) on a private placement basis, details of which is as follows: 

 

S. 

No. 

No. of 

Bonds/ 

Debentures 

Face 

Value 

(in Rs.) 

Total Amount (in 

Rs.) 

Coupon 

Rate 

Date of 

Issuance 

Date of 

Listing on 

NSE & BSE 

1. 77,500* 1,00,000 7,75,00,00,000 7.23% 11.12.2024 12.12.2024 

 

The above Listed, Senior, Taxable Secured Redeemable Non-Convertible Green Bonds in the 

nature of Debentures (“Green Bonds” Series- I) are the first of its kind issue of 'Green Bonds' in 

roads and highways sector and are listed on the Debt Segment of National Stock Exchange of India 

Limited and BSE Limited. 

 

The details of the listed NCDs of the Company as on March 31, 2025, are detailed below: 
 

S. 

No. 

ISIN Coupon 

Rate 

Issuance 

Date 

Maturity 

Date 

Amount 

Issued 

(in Cr.) 

Amount 

Outstanding 

(in Cr.) 

Interest 

Frequency 

1. INE0J7Q07025 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2028 

500 500 Quarterly 

2. INE0J7Q07033 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2029 

500 500 Quarterly 

3. INE0J7Q07041 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

18-Mar-

2030 

500 500 Quarterly 

4. INE0J7Q07058 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

17-Mar-

2031 

500 500 Quarterly 

5. INE0J7Q07066 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2032 

500 500 Quarterly 

6. INE0J7Q07074 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2033 

500 500 Quarterly 

7. INE0J7Q07082 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2034 

500 500 Quarterly 

8. INE0J7Q07090 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2035 

500 500 Quarterly 

9. INE0J7Q07108 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

17-Mar-

2036 

500 500 Quarterly 

10. INE0J7Q07017 9.58%* 14-Mar-

2022 

16-Mar-

2037 

500 500 Quarterly 
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11. INE0J7Q07215 7.82% 24-Feb-

2023 

24-Feb-

2033 

3684 3684 Half Yearly 

12. INE0J7Q07223 7.89% 14-Mar-

2023 

14-Mar-

2033 

2355 2355 Half Yearly 

13. INE0J7Q07231 7.74% 4-Dec-

2023 

4-Dec-

2038 

3000 3000 Half Yearly 

14. INE0J7Q07249 7.55% 1-Mar-2024 1-Mar-2029 2896 2896 Half Yearly 

15. INE0J7Q07256 7.23% 11-Dec-

2024 

11-Dec-

2034 

775 775 Half Yearly 

 

*Note: 9.58% p.a. is the coupon rate as on 31st March, 2025. The rate is linked to Benchmark to be reset on a quarterly 

basis + Spread which will remain constant during the Tenor of the Instrument. 

 

Credit Ratings  
 

Rating Action: 
 

 Long-Term Borrowing Programme Aggregating Rs. 49000 Crore - CRISIL AAA/Stable 

 Long-Term Borrowing Programme Aggregating Rs. 49000 Crore - CARE AAA/Stable 

(Reaffirmed) 
 

Facilities/Instruments Amount  

(Rs. in crore) 

Rating Rating Action 

Long-term Instruments 20,000.00 CARE AAA; Stable  

(Triple A; Outlook: Stable) 

Reaffirmed 

Long-term Instruments 29,000.00 CARE AAA; Stable 

(Triple A; Outlook: Stable) 

Reaffirmed 

Total Instruments 49,000.00   

 

India Ratings and Research (Ind-Ra) has affirmed DME Development Limited’s (DME) long-

term debt ratings as follows: 

Instrument Type Maturity Date Size of Issue 

(billion) 

Rating/ 

Outlook 

Rating 

Action 

Long-term bank loan 30 September 2038 INR 290 IND AAA/Stable Affirmed 

Long-term debt*~&^ - INR 200 IND AAA/Stable Affirmed 

*details in annexure 

~includes taxable bonds 

&includes issuance of green bond of INR7.75 billion 

^unutilised amount of INR22.90 billion (in combination of bonds and bank loans) 

$Ind-Ra has disclosed the unsupported rating in compliance with the Securities Exchange Board of India’s Master 

circular dated 3 July 2023. Securities backed by specified support considerations, as mentioned in the circular, rated 

with or without a CE-suffix would require to disclose unsupported ratings without factoring in the explicit credit 

enhancement (CE) from the specified support consideration and supported rating after factoring in the explicit the 

specified support consideration. 
 

Source: https://www.indiaratings.co.in/pressrelease/74189  

 

Debenture Trustee Details 
 

SBICAP Trustee Company Limited 
202, Maker Tower, 'E', Cuffe Parade, Colaba, Mumbai, Maharashtra – 400 005 
 

Listing on Stock Exchanges 
 

The Non-Convertible Debentures of the Company are listed on the National Stock Exchange of 

India Limited and BSE Limited.  

 

https://www.indiaratings.co.in/pressrelease/74189
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Dividend: 
 

The operations of your Company during the year under review have not generated adequate cash 

flow for consideration of declaration of Dividend for the year under review. As such, your Directors 

do not recommend Dividend for the year. However, it will be the endeavor of the Management of 

your Company to have a stable dividend policy in the future. Since no dividend has been declared 

by the Company in past, it was not required to transfer any amount to the Investor Education and 

Protection Fund (“IEPF”) and accordingly, no disclosures were required to be made during the F.Y. 

2024-25. 

 

Board of Directors: 
 

As on 31st March, 2025, the Board comprises of the following Directors: 

 

Name of the Directors  DIN Date of 
Appointment 

Designation 

Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali Krishna 
RajendraKumar 

09494456 16.02.2022 Nominee Director 

Sh. Vinay Kumar 02174687 22.05.2024 Nominee Director 

Sh. Alok Deepankar 07317490 09.11.2023 Nominee Director 

Smt. Sudha Damodar 07755170 23.12.2022 Independent Director 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan 10094828 15.04.2023 Independent Director 

Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri 
Chakravartula 

09822685 23.12.2022 Nominee Director 

 

Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali Krishna Rajendrakumar and Sh. Vinay Kumar shall be liable to 

retire by rotation pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, and being 

eligible offers themselves for re-appointment.  

 

Key Managerial Personnel: 
 

As per the provisions of Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 8 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 as amended from time to 

time, the following Director / Executives of your Company are the Key Managerial Personnel as on 

31st March, 2025 and as on the date of this Report. 
 

Name of the KMP Designation 

Ms. Prachi Mittal  Company Secretary (CS) 

Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 

Sh. Gautam Vishal Charan Pahari Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

 

Changes in the Board of Directors: 
 

During the Financial Year under review following changes took place in the structure of the Board: 
 

Name of Director Designation Date of Change Nature of Change 

Sh. Vinay Kumar (DIN-02174687) Nominee Director 22.05.2024 Appointment 

 

Meetings of the Board of Directors and Members: 
 

The Board of Directors meets at regular intervals to discuss and decide on policies and strategies, 

along with other business matters. However, in the event of urgent and special business needs, the 

Board's approval is obtained by passing resolutions through circulation, as permitted by law, which 



DME Development Limited 

26 

 

are subsequently recorded at the following Board meeting. During the Financial Year ended 31st 

March, 2025, the Board met Six (6) times, on the following dates: 

 

22nd May, 2024, 13th August, 2024, 25th September, 2024, 14th November, 2024, 19th 

December, 2024 and 13th February, 2025. 

 

The maximum time gap between any two consecutive meetings did not exceed 120 (One Hundred 

Twenty) days. 

 

During the year under review 4th Annual General Meeting of the members of the Company was held 

on 20th December, 2024. During the financial year under review One (1) Extra-ordinary General 

Meetings was held on 14th February, 2025. 

 

The Director wise presence in the respective Board Meeting is as under: 

 

Name of the 

Directors 

Date of Board Meetings 

 22.05.2024 13.08.2024 25.09.2024 14.11.2024 19.12.2024 13.02.2025 

Sh. NRVVMK 

Rajendrakumar 

P P P P P P 

Sh. Vinay Kumar* - LOA LOA P P P 

Sh. Alok 

Deepankar 

P LOA P P LOA LOA 

Smt. Sudha 

Damodar 

P P P P P P 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan P P P P P P 

Sh. Ananta 

Manohar Meduri 

Chakravartula 

P P P P P P 

 

P: Present 

LOA: Leave of Absence 

*Appointed w.e.f. 22.05.2024 

 

Annual Return 
 

As required under the provisions of Sections 92(3) and 134(3)(a) of the Act and read with the 

Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, a copy of the Annual Return of the 

Company for F.Y. 2023-24 is uploaded on the website of the Company i.e., http://www.dmedl.in/.  

 

Further, Annual Return of the Company for F.Y. 2024-25 will be filed with the Ministry of Corporate 

Affairs in due course within the prescribed timelines and a copy of the same shall be uploaded on 

the website of the Company i.e., https://dmedl.in/annual-return.html  

 

Committees of the Board 
 

As of March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors had established five committees to assist in the effective 

governance and management of the Company viz:  

 Audit Committee; 

 Nomination & Remuneration Committee; 

 Risk Management Committee; 

 Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee; and  

http://www.dmedl.in/
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 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. 

 

Each committee is composed of a balanced mix of Executive, Non-executive, and Independent 

Directors, ensuring a diversity of perspectives and expertise. In line with best corporate governance 

practices, Independent Directors have been appointed as the Chairperson of each of these 

committees, thereby enhancing their objectivity and impartiality. 

 

A comprehensive overview of the composition of the Board and its committees, along with their 

respective roles and responsibilities, is provided in the Corporate Governance Report, which forms 

an integral part of this Integrated Annual Report. 

 

Statement regarding declaration given by Independent Director(s) u/s 149(7) of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and Board opinion with regard to integrity, expertise and experience 

(including the proficiency) of the Independent Directors appointed during the year 
 

The Company has received necessary declaration from each independent Director under Section 

149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013, that he/she meets the criteria of independence laid down in 

Section 149(6), Code for independent directors of the Companies Act, 2013 and of the Listing 

Regulations. 

 

Meeting of Independent Directors 

 

The Independent Directors of the Company convened a meeting on 6th August, 2025, without the 

presence of Non-Independent Directors and members of management, in compliance with the 

requirements of Section 149(8) read with Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013, and Regulation 

25(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.  

 

Familiarization Program for Independent Directors 
 

All new Independent Directors inducted into the Board attend an orientation program. The details of 

the training and familiarization program have been provided on the website of the Company i.e., 

www.dmedl.in.  Further, at the time of the appointment of an Independent Director, the Company 

issues a formal letter of appointment outlining his/her role, function, duties and responsibilities.  

 

Statutory Auditors: 
 

M/s A A A G & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (ICAI Firm Registration No. FRN 004924N) were 

appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company for the financial year 2024-25 by the office of 

the Comptroller and Auditor General of India to conduct audit of the Company for the Financial Year 

2024-25.  

 

Further, the ratification of the appointment of M/s A A A G & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (ICAI 

Firm Registration No. 004924N), who have been appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company 

for the financial year 2025–26 by the office of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India and 

fixation of their remuneration, is proposed at the ensuing Annual General Meeting, to hold office till 

the conclusion of the Sixth Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

 

The Statutory Auditors have given a confirmation to the effect that they are eligible to continue with 

their appointment and they have not been disqualified from continuing as the Statutory Auditors 

 

The report of the Statutory Auditor is enclosed. 

 

 

http://www.dmedl.in/
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Management Comments on the Statutory Auditors Report: 
 

The Company’s responses to the observations made by the Statutory Auditors in their report on the 

standalone financial statements have been appropriately addressed and are enclosed as part of the 

Board’s Report. 

 

C& AG Comments/Report: 
 

The comments/report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India (C&AG) under Section 

143(6)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013, on the accounts of the Company for the financial year ended 

March 31, 2025, issued as a supplement to the Statutory Auditors’ Report are enclosed. 

 

Secretarial Audit Report: 
 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Secretarial Audit for 

the financial year 2024–25 was conducted by M/s Jalaj Srivastava & Associates, Practicing 

Company Secretaries. The Secretarial Audit Report, in the prescribed Form MR-3, is annexed 

herewith as Annexure I to this Report. 

 

Further, in compliance with Regulation 24A of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company has submitted the Annual Secretarial Compliance 

Report for the financial year 2024–25 to the Stock Exchanges within the prescribed timelines.  

 

Secretarial Auditors’ observation(s) in Secretarial Audit Report and Management’s responses 

thereto:  

 

Management Replies to the observations provided in Secretarial Audit Report: 

S. 

No. 

Observations Reply by Management 

1. Statement as prescribed under Rule 

8(5)(X) of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 

2014 in respect of Prevention of Sexual 

Harassment of Women at Workplace 

Act,2013 has not been made in the 

Directors Report for financial year 2023-

24. 

The Company has addressed this matter in 

the Directors’ Report for financial year 2023–

24 by stating that the said Act is not applicable 

to the Company, as the number of employees 

during the year was below the threshold of 10, 

as specified under the Act. Since the Act was 

not applicable due to employee count being 

below the prescribed limit, the same was 

appropriately explained in the Report. 

  

Also, as the Company is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of the National Highways Authority 

of India (NHAI), which has a duly constituted 

authority and mechanisms in place to address 

complaints of sexual harassment in line with 

the Act, any aggrieved person can approach 

NHAI’s Internal Complaints Committee for 

redressal, if required. 

  

However, the Company acknowledges the 

importance of clear and explicit compliance 

statements and will ensure the language used 

in future disclosures is aligned more directly 
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with the requirements of the Rule to avoid any 

ambiguity. 

2. Non- disclosure of information as 

prescribed in Regulation 7 (1) of SEBI 

(Prohibition of Insider Trading) 

Regulations, 2015 at the time of 

appointment of Director during the period 

under audit. 

It may please be noted that none of the 

Directors and Key Managerial Personnel hold 

any shares in the Company at the time of 

appointment, nor was there any trading in the 

Company’s securities or access to 

unpublished price sensitive information (UPSI) 

involved. 

 

Directors Appointment & Remuneration: 
 

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, the National Highways Authority of 

India (NHAI) and the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways (MoRTH) have the right to appoint 

Directors to the Board of the Company. The Directors are nominated by NHAI from among its 

officers, who are employees of NHAI/MoRTH, and their salaries are paid by NHAI. 

 

In addition to NHAI, MoRTH also appoints Directors to the Board. These Directors, being employees 

or officers of the respective appointing bodies, are governed by the applicable service rules of their 

parent organizations. The Company does not pay any salary or remuneration to its Directors. 

 

Evaluation of Board’s performance: 
 

Performance of each Board Member is evaluated based upon attendance to Board or Committee 

Meetings, positive contribution in the meetings and overall strategic planning. 

 

Particulars of Loans, Guarantees or Investment u/s 186 of the Companies Act, 2013: 
 

Your Company is engaged in Infrastructure Sector, as stated in the Schedule VI to the Companies 

Act, 2013. By virtue of the provisions of Section 186(11), the provisions of Section 186, read with the 

Companies (Meeting of the Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, as amended from time to time, 

relating to loan made, guarantee given or security provided, do not apply to your Company.  

 

Particulars of Contracts or Arrangements with Related Parties referred to in section 188(1) of 

the Companies Act, 2013: 
 

A Related Party Transactions Policy has been devised by your Company for, inter alia determining 

the materiality of transactions with related parties and dealings with them in line with the 

requirements of the SEBI Listing Regulations and it intends to ensure that proper reporting, approval 

and disclosure processes are in place for all transactions between the Company and Related Parties. 

 

The said Policy is available on your Company’s website, www.dmedl.in and a link to the said Policy 

has been provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

During the year under review, all related party transactions entered into by the Company, were 

approved/ratified by the Audit Committee and were at arm’s length and in the ordinary course of 

business and were in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 

SEBI Listing Regulations.  

 

Further, during the year under review, there are no materially significant related party transactions 

entered by the Company with Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or other Designated 

Persons which may have a potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large. Members may 

refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements for details of Related Party Transactions. All 

http://www.dmedl.in/
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transactions entered into with Related Parties as defined under the Act and Regulation 23 of the 

SEBI Listing Regulations during the financial year were in the ordinary course of business and on 

an arm’s length basis and do not attract the provisions of Section 188 of the Act and hence there is 

no requirement of attaching AOC 2.  

 

Material changes and commitments, if any, affecting the financial position of the Company 

which have occurred between the end of the Financial Year of the Company to which the 

financial statements relate and the date of the report: 
 

As of the date of the Board Report, there have been no material changes or commitments that have 

occurred between the end of the Financial Year on March 31, 2025, and the date of the report, which 

would have a significant impact on the financial position of the Company. However, as on the date 

of this report, the Company has fully repaid all its Rupee Term Loan obligations, and there are no 

outstanding balances in this regard. 

 

Also, the Company has partially redeemed its Bonds (NCDs) after the closure of Financial Year. The 

details of outstanding Bonds as on 11.12.2025 are as under: 

 

Series Issue Size 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

No. of NCDs 

redeemed 

Amount 

Redeemed 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Outstanding 

NCDs 

Outstanding 

Amount 

(Rs. in 

Lakhs) 

I 500000 50000 500000 NIL NIL 

II 368400 203350 203350 165050 165050 

III 235500 147618 147618 87882 87882 

IV 300000 97500 97500 202500 202500 

V 289600 187100 187100 102500 102500 

SR I-GB 77500 - - 77500 77500 

 Total   635432 6,35,432 

 

Development & Implementation of Corporate Social Responsibility: 
 

As per the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made there under, 

Company having net worth of Rupees Five Hundred Crores or more or turnover of Rupees One 

Thousand Crore or more or a net profit of Rupees Five Crore or more during any financial year shall 

constitute CSR committee. Since the Company’s net worth crosses the prescribed threshold limit 

the provisions relating to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) are applicable to the Company. The 

Company was incorporated in the financial year 2020-21 and also the Company does not have any 

profit during the last three financial years and hence the Company was not required to make 

expenditure towards the Corporate Social Responsibility. 

 

Composition of CSR Committee: 

 

S. No. Name of Committee members Designation 

1. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan Chairperson 

2. Sh. NRVVMK Rajendrakumar Member 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula Member 
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement: 
 

Pursuant to sub-section (5) of Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013 and to the best of their 

knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations obtained/received from the 

management, your Directors make the following statement and confirm that: 
 

1. In preparation of the Annual Accounts for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2025, the 

applicable Accounting Standards have been followed along with proper explanation to material 

departures;  

2. The Directors have selected such Accounting Policies and applied them consistently and made 

judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the Financial Year and of the profit or loss of 

the Company for that period. 

3. The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 

accounting records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of 

the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities. 

4. The Directors have prepared the Annual Accounts on a going concern basis. 

5. The Directors, had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the company and that 

such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively. 

6. The Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 

applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.  

 

Board Policies 
 

The SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended, 

mandates the formulation of certain policies for all listed entities. The following policies have been 

adopted by the Company: 
 

Name of the policy/codes Brief description 

Related Party Transaction Policy The policy regulates all related party transactions of the 

Group. 

Preservation of Documents and 

Archival Policy 

This policy provides the guidelines adopted by the DMEDL 

for preservation of documents and also includes archival 

policy adopted by the DMEDL. 

Risk Management policy The Risk Management Policy forms part of DME’s 

governance and control arrangements. 

Vigil Mechanism and Whistle 

blower Policy 

The Company has adopted a whistleblower mechanism to 

report concerns about unethical behavior, actual or 

suspected fraud, or violation of the Company’s Code of 

Conduct and Ethics. The policy was adopted and effective 

w.e.f 29.03.2023 

Corporate Governance-Code of 

Conduct for Board Members and 

Senior Management Personnel 

The purpose of this Code is to codify the accepted practices 

of integrity, ethics & transparency in governance of DME 

Development Limited 

Familiarization Programme for 

Independent Directors 

The Company familiarizes the Independent Directors with 

their roles, rights, responsibilities in the Company, nature of 

the industry in which the Company operates, business model 

of the Company through various programmes by way of 

presentations/ interaction 

Terms and Conditions of 

Appointment of Independent 

Director 

The Terms and Conditions of Appointment of an Independent 

Director outline the rules and expectations for their role 
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Succession Policy The objective of this Succession Policy is to ensure the 

orderly identification and selection of new Directors or Senior 

Management in the event of any vacancy, whether such 

vacancy exists by reason of an anticipated retirement, an 

unanticipated departure, the expansion of the size of the 

Company, or otherwise. 

Stakeholders’ Relationship & 

Share Transfer Policy (SR-ST 

Policy) 

This policy outlines the framework for ensuring effective 

communication, timely redressal of grievances, and smooth 

processing of share-related transactions for shareholders 

and other stakeholders. 

Policy on Board Diversity The objectives of this Policy are to ensure a transparent 

Board nomination process with the diversity of thought, 

experience, knowledge, perspective and gender in the Board, 

Enhance the quality of decisions making and ensure better 

business performance, Encourage diversity of perspectives 

thereby fuel creativity and innovation, Complement and 

expand the skills, knowledge and experience of the Board as 

a whole and Provide better Corporate Governance. 

Performance Evaluation Policy This Policy aims to:  

a. Ensure compliance of the applicable provisions of the 

Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the SEBI (Listing 

Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 

(“Listing Regulations”) (as amended or re-enacted from time 

to time) relating to the evaluation of performance of the 

Directors and the Board.  

b. adopt best practices to manage the affairs of the Company 

in seamless manner.  

c. achieve good corporate governance as well as sustained 

long-term value creation for  

stakeholders 

Nomination and Remuneration 

Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to enhance integrity, ethics & 

transparency in governance of DME Development Limited 

(“the Company” or “DME”) thereby reinforcing the trust and 

confidence reposed in the Company by their Unitholders and 

shareholders respectively along with other stakeholders. 

Code of Practices and Procedures 

for Fair Disclosure 

This Code is required for the Company to prevent the misuse 

and ensure timely and adequate disclosure of UPSI and to 

maintain the uniformity, transparency and fairness in dealing 

with all the stakeholders and in ensuring adherence to 

applicable laws and regulations. 

COC Regulate and Monitor 

Trading by DP 

This Code of Conduct is framed as per SEBI’s Insider Trading 

Regulations to prevent insider trading and ensure fair trading 

practices by employees and connected persons who have 

access to Unpublished Price Sensitive Information (UPSI). 

Leak of UPSI Policy This policy is framed in accordance with Regulation 9A of 

SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 to 

prevent, detect, and address any leak or suspected leak of 

Unpublished Price Sensitive Information (UPSI). 

Corporate Social Responsibility 

Policy  

A CSR Policy outlines a company’s commitment to contribute 

to sustainable development by delivering economic, social, 

and environmental benefits to society. 
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Web Link of the Board Policies/Codes 
 

Name of the policy Web Link 

Related Party Transaction Policy Related Party Transaction Policy.pdf 

Preservation of Documents and Archival 

Policy 

Microsoft Word - Preservation of Documents and 

Archival Policy CGCEL 

Risk Management policy Risk Managment policy.pdf 

Vigil-Mechanism-and-Whistleblower-

Policy 

Vigil-Mechanism-and-Whistleblower-Policy.pdf 

Corporate Governance-Code of Conduct 

for Board Members and Senior 

Management Personnel 

Code of Conduct for Board Members and Senior 

Management Personnelrev.pdf 

 

Familiarization Programme for 

Independent Directors 

Familiarisation Programme for Independent 

Directors1.pdf 

Terms and Conditions of Appointment of 

Independent Director 

Terms and Conditions of Appointment of Independent 

Director.pdf 

Succession Policy Succession Policy.pdf 

Stakeholders’ Relationship & Share 

Transfer Policy (SR-ST Policy) 

Stakeholders Relationship and Share Transfer 

Policy.pdf 

Policy on Board Diversity Policy on Board Diversity.pdf 

Performance Evaluation Policy Policy for evaluation.pdf 

Nomination and Remuneration Policy NRC_Policy.pdf 

Code of Practices and Procedures for Fair 

Disclosure 

Code Of Practices And Procedures For Fair 

Disclosure.pdf 

COC Regulate and Monitor Trading by DP COC_Regulate and Monitor Trading by DP.pdf 

Leak of UPSI Policy Policy for dealing with leak of UPSI 

Corporate Social Responsibility Policy  https://dmedl.in/CSR_Policy.pdf  

 

Information pursuant to Rule 8 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014: 
 

Particulars relating to conservation of energy, technology absorption and foreign exchange 

earnings and outgo:  
 

Information pursuant to Rule 8(3) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is as under: 

Particulars Steps taken 

A- Conservation of energy 

i. Steps taken or impact on energy conservation Not applicable 

ii. Steps taken for utilizing alternate sources of energy Not applicable 

iii. Capital investment on energy conservation equipments Not applicable 

B- Technology Absorption 

i. Efforts made towards technology absorption Not applicable 

ii. The benefits derived like product improvement, cost 

reduction, product development and import substitution 

Not applicable 

iii. Details related to imported technology Not applicable as the Company is not 

using imported technology 

iv. Expenditure on Research & development NIL 

C-Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo 

i. Actual earnings NIL 

ii. Actual outgo NIL 

 

 

 

https://dmedl.in/Related%20Party%20Transaction%20Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Preservation-of-Documents-and-Archival-Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Preservation-of-Documents-and-Archival-Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Risk%20Managment%20policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Vigil-Mechanism-and-Whistleblower-Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Board%20Members%20and%20Senior%20Management%20Personnelrev.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Board%20Members%20and%20Senior%20Management%20Personnelrev.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Familiarisation%20Programme%20for%20Independent%20Directors1.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Familiarisation%20Programme%20for%20Independent%20Directors1.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Terms%20and%20Conditions%20of%20Appointment%20of%20Independent%20Director.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Terms%20and%20Conditions%20of%20Appointment%20of%20Independent%20Director.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Succession%20Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Stakeholders%20Relationship%20and%20Share%20Transfer%20Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Stakeholders%20Relationship%20and%20Share%20Transfer%20Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Policy%20on%20Board%20Diversity.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Policy%20for%20evaluation.pdf
https://dmedl.in/NRC_Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Code%20Of%20Practices%20And%20Procedures%20For%20Fair%20Disclosure.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Code%20Of%20Practices%20And%20Procedures%20For%20Fair%20Disclosure.pdf
https://dmedl.in/COC_Regulate%20and%20Monitor%20Trading%20by%20DP.pdf
https://dmedl.in/Leak%20of%20UPSI%20Policy.pdf
https://dmedl.in/CSR_Policy_11-12-25.pdf
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Change in Nature of Business:  
 

There is no change in nature of business of the Company during the period under review. 

 

Details of Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures or Associate Companies during the year: 
 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of National Highways Authority of India which holds 

100% of the Equity Share Capital of the Company. The Company is neither a holding Company nor 

has any Subsidiary, Joint Ventures or Associate Companies. 

 

Internal Financial Control & its Adequacy: 
 

The Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. 
During the year, such controls were tested and no reportable material weakness in the design or 
operation was observed. 
 
The Statutory Auditor of the Company i.e. M/s AAAG & Co., Chartered Accountants have in their 
report stated that the Company has in all material respects, an adequate internal financial control 
with reference to financial statements. 
 

Risk Management 
 

In alignment with its commitment to sound corporate governance and regulatory compliance, the 

Company has established a comprehensive Risk Management Policy designed to provide a 

structured and consistent approach to the identification, evaluation, mitigation, and monitoring of 

risks that may impact the achievement of its strategic and operational objectives.  

 

To ensure effective implementation and oversight, the Company has constituted a Risk Management 

Committee comprising members of senior management with relevant functional and domain 

expertise. This Committee is entrusted with the responsibility of overseeing the enterprise-wide risk 

management framework, periodically reviewing the risk register, monitoring key risk indicators, and 

ensuring that material risks are addressed through timely and appropriate mitigation measures. The 

Committee also plays a critical role in advising the Board of Directors on risk exposure and tolerance 

levels, thereby ensuring that the Company operates within its defined risk appetite. This integrated 

and proactive approach strengthens organizational resilience, enhances decision-making, and 

safeguards stakeholder interests in a dynamic and complex risk environment. 

 

Human Resources and Industrial Relations 
 

Your Company remains committed towards the overall growth and development of Human Capital 

and continues to adhere to the widely recognized human resource practices for collective growth of 

the team members’ alongwith the organizational development. 

 

Deposits: 

 

Your Company has not invited or accepted any deposits covered under Section 73 of the Companies 

Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014, during the year under 

review. 

 

Details of Deposits not in Compliance with the requirements of the Act: 
 

Since the Company has not accepted any deposits during the financial year under review, there has 

been no non-compliance with the requirements of the Act. 
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Details of application made or any proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy 

Code, 2016 during the year alongwith their status as at the end of the financial year 
 

There is no proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016. 

 

Details of difference between amount of the valuation done at the time of one time settlement 

and the valuation done while taking loan from the banks or financial institutions along with 

the reasons thereof  

 

As on 31.03.2025, there was no instance of one-time settlement with any Banks or Financial 

Institution. 

 

However, as on the date of this report, the Company has fully repaid all its Rupee Term Loan 

obligations, and there are no outstanding balances in this regard. 

 

Also, the Company has partially redeemed its Bonds (NCDs) after the closure of Financial Year. The 

details of outstanding Bonds as on 11.12.2025 are as under: 

 

Series Issue Size 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

No. of NCDs 

redeemed 

Amount 

Redeemed 

(Rs. in 

Lakhs) 

Outstanding 

NCDs 

Outstanding 

Amount 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

I 500000 50000 500000 NIL NIL 

II 368400 203350 203350 165050 165050 

III 235500 147618 147618 87882 87882 

IV 300000 97500 97500 202500 202500 

V 289600 187100 187100 102500 102500 

SR I-GB 77500 - - 77500 77500 

 Total   635432 6,35,432 

 

Vigil Mechanism:  
 

The Company has implemented a Whistle Blower Policy in accordance with the provisions of the 

Vigil Mechanism under Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 22 of the SEBI 

Listing Regulations. This policy is designed to encourage Directors and employees to report any 

concerns or issues that may impact or compromise the interests of the Company and its 

stakeholders, escalating such matters to the Audit Committee. No personnel has been denied 

access to the Audit Committee. 

 

The Company is committed to upholding the highest standards of ethical, moral, and legal business 

conduct, fostering open communication and ensuring the protection of employees who raise 

concerns in good faith. Necessary safeguards are in place to protect employees from retaliation, 

reprisals or victimization for whistleblowing actions taken in good faith. 

 

The said Policy is available on your Company’s website www.dmedl.in and a link to the said Policy 

has been provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

No complaints were reported under the Whistle blower Policy during the year under review. 

 

 

 

http://www.dmedl.in/
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Disclosure under Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and 

Redressal) Act, 2013   
 

During the reporting period, the Company does not have the number of employees as per the 

threshold prescribed under the Act, however, the Company is committed to providing a work 

environment that ensures every employee is treated with dignity and respect and has zero tolerance 

towards any form of harassment.  

 

During the reporting period, the following is the summary of complaints received and disposed of: 

 Number of complaints filed during the year: Zero 

 Number of complaints disposed of during the year: Zero 

 Number of complaints pending as at the end of the financial year: Zero 

 

Also, as the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the National Highways Authority of India 

(NHAI), which has a duly constituted authority and mechanisms in place to address complaints of 

sexual harassment in line with the Act, any aggrieved person can approach NHAI’s Internal 

Complaints Committee for redressal, if required. 

 

Particulars of employees pursuant to Rule 5(1) and 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment & 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014  
 

Not Applicable 

 

Statement with respect to the compliance of the provisions relating to the Maternity Benefit 

Act 1961 
 

The Company has complied with the provisions of the Maternity Benefit Act, 1961, as amended, and 

extends all applicable benefits to eligible female employees. 

 

Compliance of applicable Secretarial Standards (ss) issued by the Institute of Company 

Secretaries of India: 
 

The Company has complied with the SS-1 on Meeting of the Board of Directors, SS – 2 on General 

Meetings and SS-3 on Board Report as required under Section 118(10) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

 

Significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals impacting the 

going concern status and company’s operations in future: 
 

There have been no significant and material orders passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals 

impacting the going Concern status and Company’s Operations in Future.  

 

However, an appeal has been filed against the order issued by the Registrar of Companies under 

Section 149(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. This matter has since been settled and disposed of by 

paying the prescribed fee to the Registrar of Companies, in compliance with the order of the Hon’ble 

Regional Director, Northern Region. 

 

Cost Records: 
 

Maintenance of cost records and requirement of cost audit as prescribed under the provisions of 

Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable for the business activities carried out 

by the Company. 
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Details of frauds reported by auditors under sub-section (12) of Section 143 other than those 

which are reportable to the Central Government 
 

During the financial year, no frauds reported to have been occurred, requiring reporting under sub-

section 12 of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013.    

 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

 

The Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the year under review, wherever applicable, 

forms an integral part of this Report. The Report provides an overview of the industry structure, 

economic environment, operational performance, opportunities and threats, and outlook for the 

future. The same is annexed to this Board’s Report as Annexure–II. 

 

Corporate Governance 
 

Your Company strives to achieve highest standards of Corporate Governance and to take necessary 

steps at appropriate times for enhancing and meeting stakeholders’ expectations while complying 

with the mandatory provisions of Corporate Governance. Accordingly, the compliance certificate 

from the practicing company secretaries regarding compliance of conditions of corporate 

governance as applicable, pursuant to requirement of Part D of Schedule V of the SEBI Listing 

Regulations, forms part of the ‘Corporate Governance Report’ forming part of the annual report as 

Annexure - III. 

 

Business Responsibility and Sustainability Reporting (BRSR)  

 

During the year, the Company successfully issued Green Bonds in accordance with the SEBI 

Circular on Disclosure Requirements for Issuance and Listing of Green Debt Securities and the 

requirements specified under Chapter VI-A of the SEBI (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible 

Securities) Regulations, 2021. The proceeds from the issuance have been earmarked exclusively 

for eligible green projects as defined under the SEBI framework, including initiatives relating to Delhi-

Mumbai Expressway.  

 

In compliance with the SEBI Circular, a third-party review of the Green Bond framework and the 

utilization of proceeds have been obtained. The Company has also undertaken impact reporting for 

the Green Bonds issued during the year. The impact report provides a quantitative and qualitative 

assessment of the environmental and social benefits generated from the eligible green projects 

funded through the Green Bond proceeds. The reporting covers both project-wise allocation and the 

resulting sustainability outcomes, ensuring transparency for investors. A third-party review of the 

impact assessment has been obtained, and the independent assurance report has been enclosed 

as part of this Annual Report as Annexure - IV.  
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fulfilling its mission in the years ahead. 

 

 By Order of the Board 

For DME Development Limited 

 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi 

Date:  16.12.2025 

 

 

 

 

Sd/- 

(NRVVMK 

RAJENDRAKUMAR) 

Chairman 

DIN: 09494456 

 

 

 

 

Sd/- 

(ANANTA MANOHAR 

MEDURI CHAKRAVARTULA) 

Director & CFO 

DIN: 09822685 
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Annexure – I 

 

Form No. MR-3 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014] 

 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31st March, 2025 

 

To, 

The Members, 

DME Development Limited New Delhi 

 

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the 

adherence to good corporate practices by DME Development Limited. (hereinafter called the 

company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for 

evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon. 

 

Based on our verification of the company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 

other records maintained by the company and also the information provided by the Company, its 

officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, We hereby 

report that in our opinion, the company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended 

on 31st March, 2025 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the 

Company has proper Board-processes and compliance- mechanism in place to the extent, in the 

manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 

 

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 

maintained by DME Development Limited (“the Company”) for the financial year ended on 31st 

March, 2025 according to the provisions of: 

 

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the rules made thereunder; 

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder; 

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; - 

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder 

to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External 

Commercial Borrowings; Not applicable as the company has no FDI, ODI or ECB during 

the financial year. 

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 

Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’): - 

 

a. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 

Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

b. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 

Regulations, 1992; 

c. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2009; 

d. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and 

Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999; Not applicable 

e. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) 

Regulations, 2008; 
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f. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 

Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client; 

g. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 

2009; Not Applicable 

h. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998; 

Not Applicable 

i. Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible 

Securities) Regulations, 2021 

(Company not being a listed company within the meaning of Section 2(52) of the Act read with Rule 

2A of Companies (Specification of Definitions Details) Rules,2014, Acts, rules and regulations 

mentioned at para ii, iii and v are applicable to the company to the extent the said Acts, rules and 

regulations apply to a company which has issued Listed Non-convertible debt securities on private 

placement basis) 

 

(vi) No laws specifically applicable to the company (As informed by the management) We have 

also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 

 

(i) Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India. - 

(ii) The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with ….. Stock Exchange(s), if 

Applicable; 

 

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 

Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above subject to the following observations: 

 

1. Statement as prescribed under Rule 8(5)(X) of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 in 

respect of Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace Act,2013 has not been 

made in the Directors Report for financial year 2023-24. 

2. Non- disclosure of information as prescribed in Regulation 7 (1) of SEBI (Prohibition of 

Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 at the time of appointment of Director during the period 

under audit. 

 

I/we further report that 

 

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive 

Directors, Non- Executive Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of 

the Board of Directors that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance 

with the provisions of the Act. 

 

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes 

on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining 

further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful 

participation at the meeting. 

 

Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and recorded 

as part of the minutes. 

 

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate 

with the size and operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, 

rules, regulations and guidelines. 

 

Specific Observations with reference to Board structure, process and systems: NIL 

 



DME Development Limited 

41 

 

We further report that during the audit period the company has- 

 

I. The Company received a notice from the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE) 

vide letter no. NSE/LIST-SOP/DEBT/FINES/0218 dated July 01, 2024, regarding non-

compliance with certain provisions of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), and a fine was levied on the 

Company. Subsequently, the Company submitted an application to NSE seeking waiver of 

the said fine, and the NSE has granted the waiver vide its letter no. NSE/LIST/SOP/1311 

dated November 28, 2024 

II. Without qualifying the report, we advise the Company to get its CIN 

U45202DL2020GOI368878 corrected to non-government company as the Company is not 

a Government Company within the meaning of Section 2(45) of Companies Act, 2013. 

III. It is recommended that the the Board of Directors should take on record in Board Meeting 

that the meeting of Independent Directors was duly held in compliance with Schedule IV of 

the Companies Act, 2013. Further, the Independent Directors may suitably and to the extent 

necessary, apprise the Board of the discussions held during their meeting. 

IV. It is further recommended that the as good corporate governance practice and to strengthen 

the Board process, t at least one Board Meeting should be conducted in physical mode 

during the financial year. 

 

 

Place: New Delhi                                                                       For Jalaj Srivastava & Associates 

Company Secretaries 

 

Date: 09.10.2025 Sd/- 

Pinky Singh 

Proprietor  

FCS 13753 

C P No.:9356  

UDIN: F013753G001509698 

Peer Review certificate no.: 2459/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed herewith and 

forms an integral part of this report. 
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Annexure to Secretarial Audit Report (Form MR-3) 

 

To, 

The Members, 

DME Development Limited 

New Delhi 

 

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter: 

 

1. Management of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit. 

 

2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain 

reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial Records. 

The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in 

secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a 

reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books 

of Accounts of the Company. 

 

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the 

compliance of laws, rules and regulations & happening of events etc. 

 

5. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 

standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the 

verification of procedure on test basis. 

 

6. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 

Company not the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the 

affairs of the Company. 

 

7. In view of the Covid-19 pandemic, the audit process has been carried out on line and offline 

and is based upon the soft /scanned copies of the documents furnished to us by the 

Company. 

 

Place: New Delhi                                                                       For Jalaj Srivastava & Associates 

Company Secretaries 

 

Date: 09.10.2025 Sd/- 

Pinky Singh 

Proprietor  

FCS 13753 

C P No.:9356  

UDIN: F013753G001509698 

Peer Review certificate no.: 2459/2022 
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Annexure – II 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

I. ECONOMY OUTLOOK 

 

Global Economy 

 

Global economic activity is expected to maintain modest but uneven momentum over the next two 

years. According to World Economic Outlook-IMF, July 2025, global real GDP growth is projected to 

decelerate to 3.0% in 2025 and recover marginally to 3.1% in 2026, following a 3.3% expansion in 

2024. This slowdown reflects rising trade frictions, geopolitical tensions, policy uncertainty, and 

inflation divergence. Growth is increasingly fragmented, with developed economies showing signs 

of fatigue while emerging markets display varied resilience. 

 

In advanced economies, real GDP growth is expected to moderate to 1.5% in 2025 and 1.6% in 

2026, compared to 1.8% in 2024. The US, in particular, is expected to decelerate from 2.8% in 2024 

to 1.9% and 2.0% in the following two years. Elevated tariffs, softening labor markets, subdued 

private investment, and weakening consumer demand are contributing to this moderation. 

 

Source: World Economic Outlook-IMF, July 2025 

 

Geopolitical risks continue to cast a shadow over the global outlook. Ongoing conflicts such as the 

Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas wars have disrupted energy and food markets, fueling inflation 

and supply chain instability. Meanwhile, the US–China trade relationship remains a key risk factor, 

with potential shifts in sourcing patterns and tariff regimes. 

 

Structural headwinds are expected to weigh on growth, even as the Asia-Pacific region emerges as 

a long-term driver of global expansion. The possibility of a weakening US dollar, driven by narrowing 

interest rate differentials, is counterbalanced by its continued dominance as a reserve currency. 

 

Adding to the uncertainty is the political transition in the United States, with the return of President 

Donald Trump in January 2025. The evolving trade and economic policies of the new administration 

are expected to shape the trajectory of global markets in the near term. 

 

Sources: EY, SP Global, IMF World Economic Outlook 

 

Domestic Economy & Outlook 

 

India’s economy continues to show impressive growth and resilience. From ranking 11th in global 

GDP in 2009, it is projected to rise to 4th by the end of 2025. This progress is driven by strong 

domestic demand, a young digital workforce, and effective policy measures. 

 

Despite global challenges like high interest rates and geopolitical tensions, India’s GDP grew by 

6.5% for the full year, with 7.4% growth in Q4. Private consumption remained strong, rising 7.2% 

annually, while investments also rebounded, with gross fixed capital formation up 9.4% in Q4. 

 

Exports slowed in Q4 due to global trade risks but still grew 6.3% for the year, mainly due to robust 

services exports. This helped narrow the current account deficit to –0.6% of GDP, the lowest since 

FY2016–17. 
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Government spending was restrained, rising just 2.3% for the year, helping to reduce the fiscal deficit 

to 4.8% of GDP. Early FY2025–26 data shows continued fiscal discipline. 

 

Inflation dropped to 2.1% by June 2025, enabling a 100 basis point cut in policy rates between 

February and June. 

 

These strong macroeconomic indicators lay a solid foundation for the future, with FY2025–26 GDP 

growth projected at 6.4% to 6.7%. 

 

Deloitte forecasts India’s GDP growth to range between 6.4% and 6.7% in FY2025–26, supported 

by easing inflation, resilient domestic demand, and proactive policy measures. Key drivers include 

the revival in private capital expenditure, a digitally skilled workforce, and the expansion of global 

trade corridors. 

 

While higher US tariffs under the Trump administration may pose challenges for Indian exporters 

and consumers, strategic trade agreements and stronger intellectual property frameworks are 

expected to open new markets and attract investments. 

 

Despite ongoing global uncertainties, India’s structural strengths continue to position it as a major 

engine of global economic growth in the years ahead. 

 

Source: Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MOSPI), Trading Economics 

Source: Deloitte Global Economic Research Center 

 

II. INDUSTRY SECTOR AND OUTLOOK 

 

Industry Overview 

The construction sector holds immense significance in India, contributing significantly to the country’s 

economic activity and serving as a major source of employment across rural and urban areas. It has 

emerged as a vital pillar of India’s economic development, demonstrating 

robust growth and considerable potential. The Indian construction industry is the second largest 

employment generator in India, next to agriculture, according to various reports. As the sector is 

expected to continue its expansion, employment opportunities are anticipated to increase, 

supporting the livelihood of significant portion of the workforce. 

 

According to the provisional estimates of NSO, the construction industry accounted for approximately 

9% of the overall Gross Value Added (GVA) for FY 2023-24, experiencing a real growth rate of 9.9% 

compared to the previous year. Notably, the construction industry was the fastest growing sector in 

the GVA in the last fiscal. 

 

The construction sector’s robust performance underscores its vital role in driving economic growth, 

creating employment opportunities, and fostering socio-economic development across the country. 

As India embarks on ambitious infrastructure projects and urbanization initiatives, the construction 

industry is poised to play an even more significant role in shaping the nation’s future landscape. 

Continued investments in infrastructure development, coupled with supportive policies and 

innovation, will further strengthen the domestic construction sector. 

 

Sector Outlook 

India has the second-largest road network in the world, spanning approximately 6.7 million 

kilometers. This network handles 64.5% of the country’s freight and 90% of passenger traffic. Over 

the past decade, India’s road infrastructure has expanded by 59%, significantly improving 

connectivity across cities, towns, and villages. 
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As of December 2024, the country has 146,195 kilometers of National Highways and 2,474 national 

high-speed corridors. In FY24, around 12,349 kilometers of National Highways were constructed. 

For FY25, the government has set a provisional target of building 10,421 kilometers of highways, 

reflecting a 15% decrease from the previous year due to delays in state clearances during the 

extended election period. Highway construction in India has grown at a compound annual growth 

rate (CAGR) of 9.3% between FY2016 and FY2024. 

 

There are currently 202 national highway projects under implementation, covering a total length of 

6,270 kilometers and valued at ₹79,789 crore (US$ 9.59 billion). Up to December FY25, the Ministry 

of Road Transport and Highways has awarded 3,100 kilometers of highway projects. As of February 

2025, India had 1,825 road projects, out of which 826 were under public-private partnership (PPP) 

models. 

 

Under the Union Budget 2024–25, the Government of India allocated ₹2.72 lakh crore (US$ 32.68 

billion) to the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways, reinforcing its commitment to further 

infrastructure development. 
 

Source: Ministry of Road Transport & Highways (MoRTH) 

 

Overall, the road construction sector in India is poised for sustained growth, driven by government 

initiatives, technological advancements, and a focus on sustainability and digitalisation. DMEDL is 

well-positioned to capitalise on these opportunities and contribute to the country’s infrastructure 

development, enhancing connectivity and economic growth. 

 

III. BUSINESS & OPERATIONS 

 

COMPANY OVERVIEW 

DME Development Limited (DMEDL) was registered on 29th August, 2020 as a Special Purpose 

Vehicle (SPV) to finance the construction and operation of the Delhi–Mumbai Expressway as per 

the concession agreement executed between NHAI and DMEDL which covers a length of 1277 

kilometers. The project is being executed in 52 packages, out of which 31 are under Engineering, 

Procurement and Construction model or EPC projects (Sohna–Vadodara segment) while the 

remaining 21 are Hybrid Annuity Model or HAM projects. The HAM Model is a hybrid or mixture of 

EPC Model and BOT Model in which the Government of India will pay 40% of the project cost in 

trenches linked to milestones, while the balance 60% cost will be arranged by the contractors. 

 

The Delhi-Mumbai Expressway is a landmark project that will drastically reduce travel time 

between two of India's largest cities and improve overall connectivity in the country. As a part of the 

broader Bharatmala Pariyojana (National Highways Development Project), it will not only provide 

a faster route for vehicles but also stimulate economic growth, improve logistics, and contribute to 

regional development in multiple states. With its advanced design and expected impact, the 

expressway is poised to be a game-changer for transportation in India. 

 

IV. OUTLOOK 

 

The outlook for the construction sector in India as well as in key international markets remains highly 

optimistic, with the industry positioned for strong and sustained growth over the coming years. In 

India, this momentum is being driven by a combination of structural and policy-based factors. Chief 

among these is the government’s continued commitment to infrastructure development, evident in 

large-scale investments under initiatives such as the National Infrastructure Pipeline (NIP), Smart 
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Cities Mission and Gati Shakti Master Plan. These programs aim to modernize urban infrastructure, 

improve connectivity and create a robust foundation for future economic growth. 

 

Rapid urbanization is also playing a pivotal role, with growing population density in cities increasing 

demand for residential, commercial, and public infrastructure. Alongside this, the broader economic 

expansion particularly in sectors like manufacturing, logistics, energy, and transportation is fueling 

the need for advanced industrial and civil infrastructure. The government's emphasis on “Make in 

India” and Production Linked Incentive (PLI) schemes is further boosting industrial activity, which, in 

turn, contributes to construction demand. 

 

Additionally, the development of logistics and warehousing infrastructure, driven by the growth of e-

commerce and global supply chain shifts, is opening new avenues for construction across Tier 1, 2, 

and even Tier 3 cities. The shift toward sustainable construction practices and adoption of advanced 

technologies such as digital engineering, prefabrication and green building solutions are also 

reshaping the industry and increasing its long-term resilience. 

 

On the international front, targeted overseas geographies especially in regions like the Middle East, 

Southeast Asia, and parts of Africa present promising opportunities for Indian construction and 

infrastructure companies. These markets are witnessing increased infrastructure spending, urban 

development and demand for expertise in areas such as roads, metro systems, power transmission, 

and water management, aligning well with the capabilities and experience of Indian firms. 

 

Overall, the combination of strong domestic fundamentals, supportive government policies, industrial 

growth and global expansion opportunities positions the Indian construction sector on a robust 

trajectory for the foreseeable future. 

 

V. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Risk management is a cornerstone of your Company’s growth strategy, equipping it to navigate 

challenges and seize opportunities with confidence and agility. The Company’s approach is founded 

on a thorough understanding of the multifaceted risks it faces, underpinned by meticulously crafted 

policies and procedures that align with industry best practices. With the implementation of robust 

systems and sound risk management practices, the Company effectively identifies, measures, and 

mitigates risks. By managing risks within carefully defined appetite levels, the Company ensures 

operational resilience and adaptability, supporting the achievement of its long-term objectives. This 

proactive and strategic approach not only safeguards assets but also drives innovation, fostering 

sustainable progress across all facets of the business. 

 

VI. INTERNAL CONTROL AND AUDIT 

 

Your Board places the highest priority on establishing and continually enhancing the Internal Control 

Framework, recognizing its critical role in navigating the complexities of the business environment 

and increasing regulatory oversight for sustainable growth. The Company adopts a well-calibrated 

and strategic framework, built on the pillars of administrative and financial controls. 

 

On the administrative control front, the Company has implemented a clear reporting structure, 

established several oversight committees, and defined roles and responsibilities at all levels to 

ensure effective checks and balances. In terms of financial controls, the management, with a deep 

understanding of the business, its operations, and processes, has instituted robust controls, 

including segregation of duties and a comprehensive reporting mechanism. These measures are 

designed to prevent and detect any misstatements in financial reporting, safeguarding the integrity 

of financial operations. 
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Your Company has implemented an Internal Financial Control (IFC) system that is aligned with the 

nature of its business and the scale and complexity of its operations. The company’s internal control 

framework is designed to provide reasonable assurance over critical business activities, ensuring 

the orderly and efficient conduct of operations, compliance with policies and procedures, and 

safeguarding against fraud and errors. It also ensures effective management of critical 

procurements, compliance with regulations, and the timeliness and reliability of financial reporting. 

The company's IFC system undergoes regular reviews, and corrective actions are taken as 

necessary to enhance controls and strengthen the overall risk management framework. 

 

The Audit Committee of the Board evaluates and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Internal Control Systems and suggests improvements to strengthen them. Based on the report of 

Internal Auditor and the response thereto, necessary corrective actions are undertaken to strengthen 

the controls. Overall, the Board and the Audit Committee maintain a proactive approach in ensuring 

that the control and governance framework is regularly reviewed and timely corrective actions are 

taken to minimise risk of disruption. 

 

During the year under review, your Company appointed M/s Manish Brij Garg & Co., a firm of 

Chartered Accountants, having requisite academic and professional qualifications, work experience, 

skill and other suitable capabilities, as the Internal Auditor of the Company for the Financial Year 

ended March 31, 2025.  

 

There was no change in the Internal Auditor during the year under review. 

 

VII. HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT 

 

The Company’s commitment to Human Capital management sets a benchmark within the 

infrastructure industry, with a strong focus on employee engagement and development. By 

prioritizing training and development initiatives across all organizational levels, the Company fosters 

a culture of continuous improvement. Trend analysis reveals the Company’s success in sustaining 

high productivity, maintaining a stable workforce and achieving low attrition rates, outperforming 

industry competitors. This dedication to nurturing talent and fostering a positive work environment 

contributes to the company’s long-term success and resilience. 

 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT  

 

The statement in Management Discussions and Analysis describing the Company’s operations and 

expectations are “forward looking statements”. Actual results may differ owing to environmental 

dynamics. 
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Annexure – III 

 

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Corporate Governance is the combination of voluntary practices and compliance with laws and 

regulations leading to effective control and management of an organization. Good Corporate 

Governance leads to long term shareholders value and enhances interest of other stakeholders. 

 

DME Development Limited (DMEDL) believes that any meaningful policy on Corporate Governance 

must empower the Executive Management of the Company. At the same time, Governance must 

create a mechanism of checks and balances to ensure that the decision-making powers vested in 

the Executive Management are used with care and responsibility to meet stakeholders’ aspirations 

and societal expectations. The Company is committed to achieve the good standards of Corporate 

Governance on a continuous basis by laying emphasis on ethical corporate citizenship and 

establishment of good corporate cultures which aim at a true Corporate Governance. 

 

DMEDL understands and respects its fiduciary and trusteeship role and responsibility to its 

stakeholders and strives hard to meet their expectations. DMEDL believes that Corporate 

Governance is a journey for constantly improving sustainable value creation and is an upward 

moving target. 

 

Your Company has issued Secured, Non-Convertible, Non-Cumulative, Taxable Bonds 

(Debentures) listed on National Stock Exchange of India Limited. Your Company strives to achieve 

highest standards of Corporate Governance and take necessary steps at appropriate times for 

enhancing and meeting stakeholders’ expectations while complying with the mandatory provisions 

of Corporate Governance. With this belief, your Company has complied with the Corporate 

Governance requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015). 

 

In accordance with the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, requisite details are as under: 

 

Mandatory Requirements  
 

Company’s philosophy on Code of Governance 
 

The philosophy of your Company in relation to Corporate Governance is to endeavor to maintain the 

highest standard of Corporate Governance through achievement of the following objectives: 

1. To protect and facilitate the shareholders to exercise their rights; 

2. To provide adequate and timely information to all the stakeholders; 

3. To ensure equitable treatment to all shareholders; 

4. To enhance the stakeholders’ value with strong emphasis on transparency, accountability and 

integrity optimum utilisation of the resources and ethical behavior of the enterprise; and 

5. To ensure timely and accurate disclosure on all matters including financial situation, 

performance, ownership and governance of the Company. 

 

There is a clear demarcation of duties and responsibilities among the Management and other Senior 

Managerial Personnel, to ensure best corporate performance and socio-economic value creation. 

 

Board of Directors: 
 

 Composition & Size 

The Board has a strength of 6 (Six) Directors as on 31.03.2025. The Board comprises of 

optimum combination of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors, including a 
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Woman Director. Detailed profile of the Board of Directors of your Company is available on the 

website of the Company i.e. www.dmedl.in. The Company recognizes and embraces the 

benefits of having a diverse Board that possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise 

and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the 

Company.  

 

The Board of Directors of your Company comprises six members, including one Executive 

Director and five Non-Executive Directors, of whom two are Independent Directors. The Board 

also includes one Woman Director, reflecting the Company’s commitment to diversity and good 

corporate governance. 

 

 Board Meeting: 
 

The Board meets at regular intervals and at least once in a quarter to review and discuss and 

decide on strategies, policies and reviews the financial performance of the Company apart 

from other Business. Whenever necessary, additional meetings are held. In case of business 

exigencies or urgency of matters, resolutions are passed by circulation, as permitted by law, 

which are noted at the subsequent Board Meeting. Meetings are governed by structured 

agenda and all major agenda items are backed by comprehensive background information to 

enable the Board to take informed decisions. During the Financial Year ended on 31st March, 

2025, the Board met Six (6) times, on the following dates: 

 

22nd May, 2024, 13th August, 2024, 25th September, 2024, 14th November, 2024, 19th 

December, 2024 and 13th February, 2025. 

 

The maximum time gap between any two consecutive meetings did not exceed 120 (One 

Hundred Twenty) days. 

 

The requisite quorum was present in all the Meetings. The intervening gap between the 

meetings was in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the SEBI Listing Regulations and 

the Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 

 

As a system, the agenda papers, along with the explanatory notes, for Board Meetings, in 

terms of the Act and the SEBI Regulations are circulated in advance to the Directors. 

Information is provided to the Board Members on a continuous basis for their review, inputs 

and approval from time to time. Every Board Member is free to suggest items for inclusion in 

the agenda. 

 

In compliance with the Secretarial Standard 1 on ‘Meetings of the Board of Directors’ (SS-1), 

the Company Secretary of the Company records minutes of proceedings of each Board and 

Committee Meeting. Draft minutes are circulated to the Board/Committee members within 15 

(fifteen) days from the date of conclusion of the Meeting for their comments and the Minutes 

are entered in the Minutes Book within 30 (thirty) days from the date of conclusion of the 

Meeting. Action Taken Report on the decisions of the previous Meeting(s) is placed at the 

immediately succeeding Meeting of the Board/Committee(s) for information and review by the 

Board/Committee(s). 

 

Further, 4th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company was held on December 20, 2024 

in line with the applicable provisions of the Act and relevant circulars issued by the MCA. 

 

 

 

http://www.dmedl.in/
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Attendance of each Director at the Board Meetings held in financial year 2024-25 and at the 

last Annual General Meeting of the Company: 
 

Name of the Director No. of Board 

Meetings 

held during the year 

No. of Board 

Meetings 

attended 

Attendance at the 

last AGM held on 

December 20, 2024 

Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali 

Krishna Rajendrakumar 

6 6 Yes 

Sh. Vinay Kumar 5 3 No 

Sh. Alok Deepankar 6 3 No 

Smt. Sudha Damodar 6 6 No 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan 6 6 Yes 

Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri 

Chakravartula 

6 6 Yes 

 

The composition of the Board of Directors, the number of other Directorships and Committee 

positions held by each Director as on March 31, 2025 is as under: 
 

Name of Director Category of 

Directorship 

Total 

Number 

of 

Directorship 

Number of 

other 

Directorship 

Number of 

Chairmanship/ 

Membership in 

committees of 

other companies 

Public Listed 

Companies 

Chairman Member 

Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay 

Venkat Murali 

Krishna 

Rajendrakumar 

Nominee 

Director 

4 Nil Nil 1 

Sh. Vinay Kumar Nominee 

Director 

11 Nil Nil 1 

Sh. Alok Deepankar Nominee 

Director 

1 Nil Nil Nil 

Smt. Sudha 

Damodar 

Independent 

Director  

1 

 

Nil Nil Nil 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan Independent 

Director  

2 

 

Nil 2 1 

Sh. Ananta Manohar 

Meduri 

Chakravartula 

Nominee 

Director 

1 Nil Nil Nil 

 

Names of the Listed entities where the person is a Director and the category of Directorship:- 

Nil 

 

Change in Composition: 
 

During the Financial Year under review following changes took place in the structure of the Board: 
 

Name of Director Designation Date of Change Nature of Change 

Sh. Vinay Kumar 

(DIN-02174687) 

Nominee Director 22.05.2024 Appointment 
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Note: 
 

a. None of the Directors of the Company were members of more than 10 committees or acted 

as Chairperson of more than 5 committees across all public limited Companies in which they 

were Directors in terms of Regulation 26 of the SEBI Listing Regulations. 

 

b.  None of the Directors held directorship in more than 7 listed entities. 

 

Further, based on the disclosures received from the Directors as on March 31, 2025 and as on the 

date of this Report, it is confirmed that none of the Directors: 

 

1.  have any inter–se relationship with each other; 

 

2.  hold directorships/memberships/ chairpersonships more than the limit prescribed under the 

Act and the SEBI Listing Regulations; 

 

3.  hold any shares or convertible instruments issued by the Company. 

 

Familiarization Programs for Independent Directors (IDs) 
 

In terms of Regulation 25(7) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, the Company is required to 

conduct Familiarization Program for its IDs to familiarize them about the Company, including nature 

of industry in which the Company operates, business model of the Company, roles, rights and 

responsibilities of IDs and any other relevant information. Further, pursuant to Regulation 62 of SEBI 

Listing Regulations, 2015, the Company is required to disseminate on its website, details of 

familiarization program imparted to IDs, including the details of: 

 

(i) number of programs attended by IDs (during the year and on a cumulative basis till date),  

(ii) number of hours spent by IDs in such programs (during the year and on a cumulative basis till 

date), and   

(iii) other relevant details. 

 

The familiarization programs conducted for the IDs are in line with the Policy adopted by the Board 

of Directors in connection thereof. Members of the Board have complete access to the information 

within the Company and IDs gets an opportunity to interact with officials of the Management. The 

Management provides information as detailed in the Familiarization Policy for the IDs either at the 

Board Meeting(s) or Committee Meeting(s) or otherwise. IDs have the freedom to interact with the 

Company’s Management. They are given all documents sought by them for enabling a good 

understanding of the Company, its various operations and industry segments of which it is a part. 

 

Further, the Management of your Company makes various presentations to the IDs on an ongoing 

basis which, inter alia, includes Company overview, latest key business highlights, latest regulatory 

developments, financial statements as part of the familiarization program. 

 

The Board has open channels of communication with executive management which allows free flow 

of communication among Directors in terms of raising query, seeking clarifications and other related 

information. 

 

The Company Secretary of the Company also regularly apprises the Board Members about their 

roles, rights and responsibilities in your Company, from time to time, as per the requirements of the 

SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, Companies Act, 2013, read together with the Rules and Schedules 

thereunder and other relevant laws. 
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The link to the details of familiarization programs imparted to IDs, as required under the SEBI Listing 

Regulations, 2015 has been provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

Skills/Expertise/ Competence of the Board of Directors of the Company: 
 

The Board of Directors of the Company comprises qualified members who bring in the required skills, 

expertise, and competence to allow them to make effective contribution to the Board and its 

Committees. The Board members are committed to ensuring that the Board is in well compliance 

with the highest standards of corporate governance. 

 

In terms of SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, the Company identified the following list of core 

skills/expertise/competencies required in the context of the Company’s business(es) and sector(s) 

for it to function effectively and those which are actually available with the Board: 

 

Management and leadership 

experience 

Management and leadership experience in the areas of 

business development, strategic planning, merger and 

acquisition, investments / divestments, guiding and leading 

the management teams to make informed decisions. 

Industry Experience Deep domain knowledge and expertise in Roads and 

Highways Sector, in-depth understanding of sectorial policies 

and Regulatory Affairs, quantitative and qualitative analysis 

of contractual obligations, understanding of key geographies. 

Diversity Diversity of thought, experience, knowledge, perspective, 

gender and culture. 

Functional and managerial 

experience 

Knowledge and skills in accounting and finance, tax, 

business judgment, general management practices and 

processes, legal, crisis response and management, macro-

economic perspectives, human resources, labor laws and 

risk management. 

Corporate Governance Experience in developing and implementing good corporate 

governance practices, maintaining board and management 

accountability, managing stakeholders’ interests and 

Company’s responsibilities towards customers, employees, 

suppliers, regulatory bodies and the communities in which it 

operates. 

 

The Directors so appointed are drawn from diverse backgrounds and possess special skills with 

regard to the industries / fields from where they come. 

 

Board Committees 
 

The Board has constituted various Committees consisting of Executive and Non-Executive Directors 

to focus on the critical functions of the Company. The Board Committees play a crucial role in the 

governance structure of the Company and are being set out to deal with specific areas/activities 

which concern the Company and need a closer review. They are set up under the formal approval 

of the Board, to carry out the clearly defined role which is considered to be performed by Members 

of the Board, as a part of good Corporate Governance practice. The Board supervises the execution 

of its responsibilities by the Committees and is responsible for their action. All observations, 

recommendations and decisions of the Committees are placed before the Board for information or 

for approval, as the case may be. Further, minutes of proceedings of the Committees are circulated 

to the Members thereof and are placed before the Board, at its Meetings, for noting thereat.  
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The Company has the following Board level committees as on 31st March, 2025: 

 Risk Management Committee; 

 Stakeholders Relationship Committee; 

 Audit Committee; 

 Nomination & Remuneration Committee; and 

 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. 

 

The Terms of Reference for the various Committees, including their roles and powers, is in 

accordance with the relevant provisions of Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015 

and other applicable Rules and Regulations issued by the concerned Regulators, from time to time. 

 

Risk Management Committee 
 

The Risk Management Committee has been constituted in line with the provisions of Section 178 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 and other rules made thereunder, as amended from time to time, read with 

Regulation 62I of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.  

 

As on 31st March 2025, the Committee comprised of the following members: 
  

1. Smt. Sudha Damodar, Independent Director (Chairperson); 

2. Sh. Gautam Vishal Charan Pahari, CEO (Member); 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula, Executive, Non-Independent Director (Member). 
 

The scope and function of Risk Management Committee is in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI Listing Regulations. The committee has formulated the Risk 

Management Policy which broadly lays down the various principles and roles and responsibilities of 

the members.  

 

The Risk Management Policy has been hosted on the website of the Company, www.dmedl.in and 

a link to the said Policy has been provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

During the year under review, no changes were made in the Nomination and Remuneration Policy 

of the Company. 

 

Stakeholders Relationship Committee 
 

The Stakeholders Relationship Committee has been constituted in line with the provisions of Section 

178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 62H of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015. 

 

As on 31st March 2025, the Committee comprised of the following members: 
 

1. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan, Non-Executive Independent Director (Chairperson) 

2. Smt. Sudha Damodar, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member) 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula, Executive Non-Independent Director (Member) 

 

The Committee oversees and reviews redressal of shareholder and investor grievances, transfer & 

transmission of shares, issue of duplicate share certificates, dematerialisation and rematerialisation 

of shares, the measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights by the shareholders, the service 

standards adopted by the Company in respect of the services rendered by the Registrar & Transfer 

Agent. 

 

During the Financial Year 2024-25, no complaint has been received from the equity shareholders of 

the Company. 
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Audit Committee 
 

The Audit Committee has been constituted, in line with the provisions of Section 177 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 62F of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, by passing the 

resolution through circulation. 

 

As on 31st March 2025, the Committee comprised of the following members: 
 

1. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan, Non-Executive Independent Director (Chairperson) 

2. Smt. Sudha Damodar, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member) 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar, Executive Non-Independent Director (Member) 
 

The representatives of Internal Auditors and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Company attend 

the meetings of the Audit Committee as invitees. 

 

Members of the Audit Committee are financially literate and have accounting or related financial 

management expertise. The terms of reference of this Committee inter alia includes oversight of the 

Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure that 

the Financial Statement is correct, sufficient and credible, recommending remuneration of auditors, 

reviewing/examining quarterly and annual Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report(s) thereon, 

before submission to the Board for approval, evaluate Company’s internal financial controls and risk 

management systems, reviewing performance of statutory and internal auditors and adequacy of 

internal control systems, reviewing the functioning of the Whistle Blower Mechanism and other 

matters specified for Audit Committee in its terms of reference drawn as per Section 177 of the 

Companies Act, 2013, the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 and 

Regulation 62F of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, read with Schedule II thereto. 

 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been constituted, in line with the provisions of 

Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 62G of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, 

by passing the resolution through circulation. 

 

As on 31st March 2025, the Committee comprised of the following members: 
 

1. Smt. Sudha Damodar, Non-Executive Independent Director (Chairperson) 

2. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member) 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar meduri chakravartula, Executive Non-Independent Director (Member) 

 

The Committee evaluates the composition and organization of the Board and its Committees in light 

of requirements established by any regulatory body or any other applicable Statutes, Rules and 

Regulations, which the Committee deems relevant, makes recommendations to the Board of 

Directors in respect to the appointment, re-appointment and resignation of Independent, Executive 

and Non-Executive Directors of the Company, identifies the persons who are qualified to become 

Directors and who may be appointed in Senior Management in accordance with the criteria laid 

down, recommends to the Board their appointment and removal and other matters specified for 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee under Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and 

Regulation 62G of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, read with Schedule II thereto. 

 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) of your Company has formulated and laid 

down criteria for Performance Evaluation and has adopted a formal mechanism for evaluating the 

performance and effectiveness of the Board (including Committees) and every Director (including 
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Managing Director, Independent Directors and Chairman of the Board) covering, inter alia, the 

following parameters:  

i.  Board Evaluation - degree of fulfilment of key responsibilities; Board culture and dynamics, 

amongst others;  

ii.  Board Committee Evaluation - effectiveness of meetings; Committee dynamics amongst others; 

and  

iii. Individual Director Evaluation (including Independent Directors) - contribution at Board Meetings, 

fulfillment of criteria of independence for independence director, amongst others. 

  

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
 

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee has been constituted, in line with the provisions of 

Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

 

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of your Company comprised of the following 

Members as 31st March 2025: 
 

1. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan, Non-Executive Independent Director (Chairperson) 

2. Sh. NRVVMK Rajendrakumar, Non-Executive Non-Independent Director (Member) 

3. Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula, Executive Non-Independent Director (Member) 

 

The CSR Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending the CSR Policy to the Board, 

recommending the amount of expenditure on CSR activities and monitoring their implementation. It 

ensures that the Company’s CSR initiatives are aligned with the provisions of the Companies Act, 

2013 and contribute meaningfully to social and environmental development. The Committee also 

ensures compliance with applicable reporting and disclosure requirements. However, as the 

Company has not recorded any profits in the last three financial years, it is not required to incur any 

expenditure towards Corporate Social Responsibility as per the provisions of the Act. 

 

Total fees for all services paid by the Company on a consolidated basis, to the joint statutory 

auditor and all entities in the network firm/network entity of which the statutory auditor is a 

part: 

 

Payment to Statutory Auditors FY 2024-25 Amount in Rs. 

Statutory Audit fees (Including Limited Review Fees) 

(Half Year Audit + Annual Audit) 

2,61,000.00 

Other audit fees (Towards Certificates, Tax Audit and out of pocket 

expenses) 

42,000.00 

Total 3,03,000.00 

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

A Related Party Transactions Policy has been devised by your Company for, inter alia determining 

the materiality of transactions with related parties and dealings with them in line with the 

requirements of the SEBI Listing Regulations and it intends to ensure that proper reporting, approval 

and disclosure processes are in place for all transactions between the Company and Related Parties. 

 

The said Policy is available on your Company’s website, www.dmedl.in and a link to the said Policy 

has been provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

During the year under review, all related party transactions entered into by the Company, were 

approved/ratified by the Audit Committee and were at arm’s length and in the ordinary course of 

http://www.dmedl.in/
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business and were in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 

SEBI Listing Regulations.  

 

Further, there are no materially significant related party transactions entered by the Company with 

Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or other Designated Persons, during the year under 

review, which may have a potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large. Members may 

refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements for details of Related Party Transactions. All 

transactions entered into with Related Parties as defined under the Act and Regulation 62K of the 

SEBI Listing Regulations during the financial year were in the ordinary course of business and on 

an arm’s length basis and do not attract the provisions of Section 188 of the Act.  

 

Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management 

 

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for its employees, Non-Executive Directors and 

Independent Directors.  A Code of Conduct as approved by the Board, has been displayed on the 

Company’s website www.dmedl.in.  

 

Remuneration of Directors 
 

As per Articles of Association of the Company, National Highways Authority of India/MoRTH has 

right to appoint Directors of the Company. The Directors of the Company are nominated by NHAI 

from amongst the officers of NHAI. These officers, being employees of NHAI/MoRTH, salary is paid 

by NHAI. Apart from NHAI, MoRTH also appoints Directors on the Board. These Directors also being 

employees/officers of the respective appointing body are governed by applicable rules of service of 

the appointing Parent body. The Company does not pay any salary or remuneration to its Directors 

except sitting fees to the Independent Directors.  

 

Name of Director Sitting Fees Salary & 

Perquisites 

Commission Total 

Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat 

Murali Krishna Rajendrakumar 

- - - - 

Sh. Alok Deepankar - - - - 

Smt. Sudha Damodar Rs. 7,50,000/- - - - 

Sh. Rajesh Ranjan Rs. 7,00,000/- - - - 

Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri 

Chakravartula 

- - - - 

 

GENERAL BODY MEETINGS: 
 

Corporate Identity Number (CIN): U45202DL2020GOI368878 

The Company is registered at Delhi, India. 

 

Annual General Meeting: 
 

The details of the last three Annual General Meetings held: 
 

Financial 

Year 

AGM Date Time Location of the AGM Special 

Resolution(s) Passed 

F.Y. 

2023-24 

4th  20th 

December, 

2024 

11.30 

A.M. 

At the registered office of the 

Company situated at Plot 

No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, 

Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075 

Nil 
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F.Y. 

2022-23 

3rd 27th 

December, 

2023 

4.00 

P.M. 

At the registered office of the 

Company situated at Plot 

No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, 

Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075 

Appointment of Sh. 

Rajesh Ranjan (DIN: 

10094828) as Director 

(Independent Director) 

of the Company 

F.Y. 

2021-22 

2nd 26th 

December, 

2022 

12.00 

Noon 

At the registered office of the 

Company situated at Plot 

No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, 

Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075 

Nil 

 

Details of Extra-ordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and Postal Ballot during the year under 

review: 
 

During the year under review or as on the date of this Report, no resolution was passed through 

Postal Ballot and no special resolution is being proposed to be passed through Postal Ballot.  

 

Further, during the financial year under review One (1) Extra-ordinary General Meeting was held on 

14th February, 2025. 

 

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION: 
 

Website: The Company’s website i.e. www.dmedl.in, contains a separate dedicated section 

‘Investor Relations’ where information for investors is available. Also, any official news release is 

updated on the website of the Company. 

 

Annual Report: The Annual Report containing, inter alia, Audited Financial Statements, Board’s 

Report, Auditors’ Report and other important information, is circulated to the Members of the 

Company and other stakeholders’ entitled thereto. The Annual Report is also available in 

downloadable form on the website of the Company. 

 

NEAPS Portal/BSE Listing Center: The NEAPS Portal (for NSE) and the BSE Listing Centre are 

secure, web-based electronic platforms developed by the National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

(NSE) and BSE Limited (BSE), respectively, to facilitate seamless compliance by listed entities. 

These platforms serve as the centralised systems for the submission of all periodical reports, 

corporate disclosures, and other statutory filings in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 

SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and other relevant 

regulatory frameworks.  

 

The Company ensures timely and accurate electronic submission of its disclosures and compliance 

documents through these portals, thereby maintaining transparency, regulatory compliance, and 

easy accessibility for stakeholders. All such filings made by the Company can be publicly accessed 

on the respective websites of the stock exchanges. 

 

SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES): Investor complaints are processed at SEBI in a 

centralized web-based complaints redress system. 

 

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION: 

 

Financial Year – 1st April to 31st March 
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Annual General Meeting for the F.Y. 2024-25: 
 

Date & Time 22nd day of December, 2025 at 11.00 A.M. 

Venue At the registered office of the Company situated at Plot No. G-5 & 6, 

Sector-10, Dwarka, New Delhi-110 075 

Financial Year April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 

Date of Book closure Not Applicable 

Dividend Payment Date No dividend is recommended by Directors of the Company on Equity 

Shares for the current Financial Year 

 

Listing on Stock Exchanges: 
 

The Non-Convertible Debentures of the Company are listed on the NSE & BSE*. Annual Listing 

Fees for FY 2024-25 and FY 2025-26 have been paid to the exchanges and there is no outstanding 

payment as on date. 
 

*(w.e.f. 05.12.2023) 

 

Securities Code: 
 

NSE Limited – INE0J7Q07025, INE0J7Q07033, INE0J7Q07041, INE0J7Q07058, INE0J7Q07066, 

INE0J7Q07074, INE0J7Q07082, INE0J7Q07090, INE0J7Q07108, INE0J7Q07017, INE0J7Q07223, 

INE0J7Q07215, INE0J7Q07231, INE0J7Q07249, INE0J7Q07256 

 

BSE Limited – INE0J7Q07231, INE0J7Q07249, INE0J7Q07256 

 

MARKET PRICE DATA: 
 

NCDs listed on NSE and BSE have been issued on private placement basis and are not regularly 

traded on-market. 

 

Hence, market price data such as high/ low/ closing prices and trading volumes etc. during the year 

under review, is not available on the Exchange. Further, equity shares issued by the Company are 

not listed on any of the Exchanges. Distribution of Shareholding as on March 31, 2025 of Equity 

Shares is as follows: 
 

S. 

No. 
Name of Shareholders 

No. of Equity 

Share of 

Rs.100/- 

Total  

(Rs.) 

Percentage 

(%) 

1. National Highways Authority of India 53,84,99,994 53,84,99,994/- 100% 

2. Sh. Alok Deepankar (Nominee of NHAI) 1 100/- - 

3. Sh. Gautam Vishal Charan Pahari 

(Nominee of NHAI) 

1 100/- - 

4. Sh. Dhanesh Kumar (Nominee of NHAI) 1 100/- - 

5. Sh. Virender Sambiyal (Nominee of NHAI) 1 100/- - 

6. Sh. Mohan Lal (Nominee of NHAI) 1 100/- - 

7. Sh. Vinay Kumar (Nominee of NHAI) 1 100/- - 

 TOTAL 53,85,00,000 53,85,00,00,000/- 100 
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Category-wise Shareholding as on March 31, 2025 of Equity Shares: 
 

Promoter & Promoter Group 

   

Indian Number of Shares % 

Individuals - - 

Bodies Corporate (NHAI) 538500000* 100 

Person Acting in Concert - - 

Total (A) 538500000 100 

   

Public Shareholdings   

Institutions Number of Shares  

Mutual Funds/UTI - - 

Alternate Investment Funds - - 

Foreign Portfolio Investors - - 

Insurance Companies - - 

Total (B) - - 

   

Non Institutions Number of Shares  

Other Bodies Corporate - - 

NRI & Foreign National - - 

Clearing Members - - 

Public & Others - - 

Total (C ) - - 

   

Total (A + B+ C) 538500000 100 

*including nominee share holders 

 

Disclosure of information on pledged shares: 
 

The details of shares pledged by promoter:  Nil 

 

Details showing Shareholding of more than 1% of the Capital as on March 31, 2025: 
 

Name of Shareholder Number of Shares % of Capital 

National Highways Authority of India 53,84,99,994 99.99 

 

Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any Convertible instruments, conversion date and 

likely impact on equity: 
 

The Company has not issued any GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any Convertible instruments. 

 

Dematerialisation Information: 
 

As on March 31, 2025, except 6 nominee shares all the equity shares of the Company are held in 

the demat form.  

 

Credit Rating(s): 
 

Details of the credit ratings obtained by the Company are provided in the ‘Board Report’ forming part 

of the Annual Report. 
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Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism: 
 

Details in this regard have been provided in the Board’s Report’, forming part of the Annual Report. 

 

Disclosures in relation to the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 

Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013: 
 

Not Applicable 

 

Share Transfer System & Redressal of Investor Grievances 

 

The Company has a Board-level Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee to examine and redress 

investors’ complaints. However, no complaints have been received so far. 

 

Disclosure by listed entity and its subsidiaries of ‘Loans and advances in the nature of loans 

to firms/companies in which directors are interested by name and amount’: 
 

There are no loans and advances given by the Company to firms/companies in which Directors are 

interested. 

 

Disclosure of Compliance with Corporate Governance Requirements specified in Regulation 

17 to 27 and Clauses (a) to (i) of Regulation 62(1A) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015: 
 

Pursuant to Schedule V to the SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015, the Company hereby confirms that it 

has complied with the Corporate Governance requirements specified in Regulation 17 to 27 and 

clauses (a) to (i) of Regulation 62(1A), inter alia, covering the following subject matter/heads: 

i)  Board of Directors 

ii)  Maximum number of Directorship 

iii)  Audit Committee 

iv)  Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

v)  Stakeholders; Relationship Committee 

vi)  Risk Management Committee 

vii)  Vigil Mechanism 

viii)  Related Party Transactions 

ix)  Corporate Governance requirements with respect to Subsidiary of the Company – N.A. 

x)  Secretarial Audit of material unlisted subsidiaries – N.A. 

xi)  Obligations with respect to Independent Directors 

xii)  Obligations with respect to Employees including Senior Management, Key Managerial 

Persons, Directors and Promoters 

xiii)  Dissemination of various information on the website of the Company, w.r.t clauses (a) to (i) of 

Regulation 62(1A) of the aforesaid Regulations. 

 

The Company has obtained the requisite certificate from M/s Puneet & Associates, a firm Practicing 

Company Secretaries confirming compliance with the conditions of corporate governance, as 

applicable, annexed hereto marked as “Annexure A”. 

 

CEO and CFO Certification 
 

The CEO and CFO of the Company have given the certification on financial reporting and internal 

controls to the Board in terms of Regulation 17(8) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, is annexed hereto 

marked as “Annexure B” and forms part of this Report. 
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Certification from Company Secretary in Practice: 
 

M/s Puneet & Associates, a firm Practicing Company Secretaries, has issued a certificate as required 

under the SEBI Listing Regulations, confirming that none of the Directors on the Board of the 

Company has been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as director of 

companies by the SEBI/MCA or any such statutory authority. The certificate is enclosed with this 

report as “Annexure C”. 

 

Disclosures with respect to Demat Suspense Account/Unclaimed Suspense Account: 
 

There are no shares lying unclaimed in the Demat Suspense Account/ Unclaimed Suspense Account 

as on the date of this Report. 

 

Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties, strictures imposed on the Company 

by Stock Exchange(s) or the Board (SEBI) or any statutory authority, on any matter related to 

capital markets, during the last three years 
 

The Company has in general complied with various Rules and Regulations prescribed by the Stock 

Exchanges, Securities and Exchange Board of India or any other statutory authority relating to the 

capital markets. No penalties or strictures have been imposed by them on the Company during the 

last three years except the following: 
 

Show cause Notice No./ Date Received 

from 

Default alleged Reply/ Waiver 

status 

NSE/LIST-SOP/ DEBT/ FINES/ 

0218 dated 1st July, 2024 

NSE Non–compliance Reg 

50(1), March-2022 

Waived off by 

NSE 

Fines as per SEBI circular dated 

July 29, 2022- Regulation 50(1), 

52(1), 52(4), 52(7)/(7A) & 54(2) for 

Quarter ended March 2024 vide 

mail dated 1st July, 2024 

BSE Non–compliance Reg 

50(1), March-2024 

Waived off by 

BSE 

 

However, an appeal was filed against the order issued by the Registrar of Companies under Section 

149(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. This matter has since been settled and disposed of by paying 

the prescribed fee to the Registrar of Companies, in compliance with the order of the Hon’ble 

Regional Director, Northern Region. 

 

Registrar & Share Transfer Agent: 

Bigshare Services Private Limited 

302, Kushal Bazar, 32-33, Nehru Place, 

New Delhi – 110019 

 

Address for correspondence: 
 

Shareholders may address their communication to Company’s Secretarial Department of the 

Company at the following address: 

 

Company Secretary and Compliance Officer 

Ms. Prachi Mittal 

Company Secretary 

DME Development Limited 

G-5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka Delhi – 110075 
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Business Responsibility and Sustainability Reporting (BRSR) 

 

In compliance with SEBI regulations and in alignment with the Company’s commitment to 

Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles, the Business Responsibility and 

Sustainability Report (BRSR) has been prepared through an independent third-party expert to 

ensure accuracy, transparency and adherence to best practices. The report provides a detailed 

overview of the Company’s sustainability performance across key ESG parameters.  

 

The BRSR, prepared in the prescribed format, is annexed to this report for reference and forms an 

integral part of the Company’s annual disclosures. 
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Annexure – A 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS 

UNDER SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 

2015 

 

To, 

The Members of 

DME Development Limited 

(CIN – U45202DL2020GOI368878) 

 

We have examined the compliance of applicable conditions of Corporate Governance by DME 

Development Limited (“the Company”) for the financial year ended 31st March 2025, as stipulated 

in Regulations 17 to 27, clauses (a) to (i) of sub-regulation (1A) of Regulation 62 and para C, D & E 

of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) applicable on a ‘comply or explain’ basis to 

the Company until 31st March 2025, being a ‘high value debt listed entity, on the basis of examination 

of documents produced to us by the Company. 

 

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management of 

the Company. This responsibility also includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 

internal controls and procedures to ensure compliance with the conditions of the Corporate 

Governance stipulated in the Listing Regulations. Our examination was limited to the review of 

procedures and implementation thereof, as adopted by the Company for ensuring compliance with 

conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the 

financial statements of the Company. 

 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 

based on the representation made by the directors and the management, we certify that the 

Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the applicable 

provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“the Regulations”) for the year ended 31st March, 2025. 

 

We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor 

the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the 

Company. 

 

Restriction on use  

This certificate is issued solely for the purpose of complying with the aforesaid regulations and may 

not be suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi 

Date: 01.12.2025 

For PUNEET AND ASSOCIATES 

Company Secretaries 

 

Sd/-  

PUNEET 

(Proprietor) 

FCS No. 9056; COP. No. – 10597 

Peer Review Cert. No. 1525/2021 

UDIN: F009056G002129999 
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Annexure – B 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO) 

CERTIFICATION  

[Pursuant to Regulation 17(8) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015] 

 

We, Gautam Vishal Charan Pahari, Chief Executive Officer and Ananta Manohar Meduri 

Chakravartula, Chief Financial Officer of DME Development Limited, both certify to the Board that 

we have reviewed the Financial Statements and the Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the 

Financial Year ended 31st March, 2025 and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we certify that 

 

1. These Statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or 

contain statements that might be misleading; 

 

2. These Statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in 

compliance with existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. 

 

3. To the best of our knowledge and belief, there are no fraudulent or illegal transactions and 

transactions violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct. 

 

4. For the purposes of financial reporting, we accept the responsibility for establishing and 

maintaining the internal controls which are monitored by the Company’s Internal Audit Team 

and have evaluated based on feedbacks received from the Company’s Internal Audit Team, 

the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial 

reporting and have reported to the Auditors and the Audit Committee, the deficiencies, if any, 

in the operation and design of such internal controls and the steps taken or proposed to be 

taken to rectify the deficiencies; 

 

5. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee: 

(i)  significant changes, if any, in the internal controls over financial reporting during the year; 

(ii)  significant changes, if any, in accounting policies made during the year and the same have 

been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements; and 

(iii)  that there have been no instances of significant fraud, of which we have become aware 

and consequently no involvement therein, of the management or an employee having a 

significant role in the Company’s internal control system over financial reporting. 

 

For DME Development Limited   

 

 

Sd/-      Sd/-     

Gautam Vishal Charan Pahari   Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula 

Chief Executive Officer   Director & Chief Financial Officer 

 
Place: Delhi 

Date:  21.11.2025 
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Annexure – C 
 

CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS 
(Pursuant to Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015) 
 

To, 

The Members of 

DME Development Limited (CIN - U45202DL2020GOI368878) 

Plot No. G-5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka,  

New Delhi-110 075 

 

We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the 

Directors and management of DME Development Limited having CIN U45202DL2020GOI368878 

and having registered office at, G-5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka, Delhi – 110075 (hereinafter referred to 

as ‘the Company’), produced before us by the Company for the purpose of issuing this Certificate, 

in accordance with Regulation 53 read with sub-clause 10(i) of Para C of Schedule V of the Securities 

Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the verifications (including Directors 

Identification Number (DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and 

explanations furnished to us by the Company and its Officers, we hereby certify that none of the 

Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below have been debarred or disqualified from 

being appointed or continuing as Directors of Companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of 

India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such other Statutory Authority for the Financial Year ending 

on 31st March, 2025. 

S. 

No. 

Name of the Director DIN Date of 

Appointment  

Status on 

MCA Portal 

1. Sh. Neti Ravi Vijay Venkat Murali Krishna 

Rajendrakumar 

09494456 16.02.2022 Active 

2. Sh. Alok Deepankar 07317490 09.11.2023 Active 

3. Smt. Sudha Damodar 07755170 23.12.2022 Active 

4. Sh. Rajesh Ranjan 10094828 15.04.2023 Active 

5. Sh. Ananta Manohar Meduri Chakravartula 09822685 23.12.2022 Active 

6. Sh. Vinay Kumar 02174687 22.05.2025 Active 

 

Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment or continuity of every Director on the Board is the 

responsibility of the Management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

same based on the verification conducted. This certificate is neither an assurance as to the future 

viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has 

conducted the affairs of the Company. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi 

Date: 01.12.2025 

For PUNEET AND ASSOCIATES 

Company Secretaries 

 

Sd/- 

PUNEET 

(Proprietor) 

FCS No. 9056; COP. No. – 10597 

Peer Review Cert. No. 1525/2021 

UDIN: F009056G002130131 
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Andheri Kurla Road, Marol, Andheri East, 
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Date: October 17, 2025

The Director cum Chief Financial Officer, 
DME Development Limited
NHAI Building, G5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka,
New Delhi - 110 075, INDIA
Phone: +91-011-25074100 / 25074200

Sub: Post-Issuance Review of Green Bond Proceeds issued by M/s DME Development Ltd. (DMEDL) 

[A] Introduction:

the Third-Party Post-Issuance Review of Green Bond issued by M/s DME Development Ltd. 
(DMEDL). 

DMEDL has raised Rs. 775 Cr. Green Bond in December 2024 @ 7.23% coupon rate. Between December
11, 2024 and March 31, 2025, DMEDL has allocated entire Rs. 775 Cr., towards reimbursement of 
expenses to its parent entity National Highway Authority of India (NHAI). 

The attached ost-Issuance Review of Green Bonds report (Annexure 1) is a testament to 
the fact that DMEDL is compliant with Revised Disclosure Requirements for Issuance and Listing 
of Green Debt Securities (Circular No.: SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023) dated 
February 06, 2023.

Responsibility and Scope of Work: 

Independent Third Party Review of DMEDL -
issuance green bond review based on procedure described in Sec E below. 
Work is defined in Purchase Order No: No FINDIV-17027/1/2024-O/o GM (Finance-I)/E-252141 Dt, Issue 
Date: 19 July 2024 issued by DMEDL. 

[C] Management's Responsibilities:

Management is responsible for: 

Development of Green Bond Framework (dt. 12 November 2024) and manage it 
in letter and spirit

Conduct Second Party Opinion (SPO) on the Green Finance Framework 

Ensure that the fund raised is utilized as per the designated Use of Proceeds (SEBI Non-
Convertible Security (NCS) Regulation, International Capital Market Association (ICMA) 
Green Bond Principles and Framework for Sovereign Green Bonds
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Ensure clear Management of Proceeds with proper ringfencing of assets 

Report (a) Annual allocation (through statutory auditor report), (b) Environmental 
Impacts and (c) Major elements of Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report (as 
per rule 2.5 of SEBI Green Debt Security (GDS) Regulation dt. 6 February 2023) through an
independent third-party reviewer; and publish this in their annual report. 

[D] Procedures:

CareEdge Advisory has performed the procedures listed below:

The procedure has encompassed the review of the following aspects included in the Framework: 

Overall alignment of the Revised 
Disclosure Requirements for Issuance and Listing of Green Debt Securities (SEBI GDS 
Regulation Circular No.: SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023 dt. February
6, 2023)

Process of Identification of Use of Proceeds (as per DMEDL
SEBI Non-convertible Securities, 2021 / ICMA Green Debt Securities, 2025 / Framework for 
Sovereign Green Bonds, 2022 (as amended to date)

Projects financed through Green Bond Proceeds by ensuring clear management of 
proceeds with proper ringfencing of assets 

Process of external verification of Green Bond proceeds 

Process of (i) allocation, (ii) impact and (iii) BRSR reporting to Board / pertinent 
parties. 

[E] Exclusions:

Third-Party Post-Issuance review should be constructed to be: (a) bound 
by the Scope of Work defined in PO No. FINDIV-17027/1/2024-O/o GM (Finance-I)/E-252141 dt. 19 July 
2024, (b) as on 31 March 2025 and not surveilled from time-to-time. 

The scope of post-issuance of green bond excluded the following and therefore CareEdge Advisory does 
not express a conclusion on the same:

Credit rating or testament of underlying credit quality of either Bank or its Borrower(s)

Developing of sector specific KPIs (if any), 

Review / provide opinion on Environmental & Social Policies & related issues.

Aspects either implicitly/explicitly excluded from 
management
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[F] Conclusion:

The post-issuance was carried out by a group of professionals with multiple years of experience in areas 
like ESG, Infrastructure, Banking and Finance. 

CareEdge Advisory believes it has received sufficient information in the form of: (i) Allocation Reporting
and (ii) Impact Reporting (As per Rule 3.1 and 3.2 of SEBI GDS Regulation Circular No.: 
SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023 dt. 6 February 2023) to form a basis of its conclusion.   

Based on the Procedures performed (see sec. [D] above) and the evidenced obtained, nothing has come to 
attention that causes it to believe that the post-issuance for FY2024-2025

not aligned, in all material respects, with Rule 2 to Rule 4.4 of SEBI GDS Regulation Circular No.:
SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023 dt. 6 February 2023. The same has been established in 
the attached report. 

The said report is attached herewith as Annexure 1.

[G] Restriction of Use

Independent Third-Party Post-Issuance Review of Green Bonds including the 
conclusion has been prepared and addressed to the management at the request of the 
Company solely to assist the Company in post-issuance review.

Accordingly, CareEdge Advisory accepts no liability to anyone, other than the DMEDL. CareEdge 

DMEDL. 

CareEdge Advisory neither accepts nor assumes any duty of care or liability arising from any form of 
damage(s) arising from any third party. 

Regards.
For CARE Analytics and Advisory Pvt. Ltd. 

Kedar Deshpande 
Director, ESG Advisory
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1. Executive Summary

Introduction: 

DME Development Limited (DMEDL) a 100% owned Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) of National Highways 
Authority of India (NHAI) was incorporated on August 29, 2020 under Companies Act, 2013 for Financing, 
Construction and Operation of Delhi-Mumbai Greenfield Expressway.

The Ministry of Road Transport & Highways (MoRTH) conveyed the approval for formation for SPV, wholly 
owned by NHAI, to implement Delhi Mumbai Expressway and also authorized NHAI to enter into a 

-
Mumbai Expressway.

DMEDL envisages through green finance, an opportunity to align its funding and sustainability strategy. To 
realize this opportunity, DMEDL has prepared Green Bond Framework to document how its green funding 
process will be developed in alignment with the -Convertible Securities (NCS) Regulations, 
20211 Green Bond Principles (GBP), 20212; and the 
Framework for Sovereign Green Bond (SGrB) issued by Department of Economic Affairs (DEA), 20223.

DMEDL, between December 11, 2024 and March 31, 2025, has deployed Rs. 775 crores of the green bond 
proceeds towards activities specified in green finance framework. These activities are part of the construction 

Delhi Mumbai Expressway approx. 1,312 km long, 8-lane wide (expandable to 12-lane) access-
controlled expressway connecting India's national capital New Delhi to its financial capital Mumbai. The 
entire approx. 1,312 km long Delhi Mumbai Expressway has been divided into 4 sections with a total of 51
construction packages/tenders, where the length of each package is between 8 km to 46 km.

             
1 https://www.sebi.gov.in/legal/regulations/aug-2021/securities-and-exchange-board-of-india-issue-and-listing-of-non-convertible-securities-
regulations-2021_51764.html
2 https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/2021-updates/Green-Bond-Principles-June-2021-100621.pdf
3 https://dea.gov.in/sites/default/files/Framework%20for%20Sovereign%20Green%20Bonds.pdf
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Scope of Engagement:

DMEDL has engaged M/s 
Party Post- Delhi Mumbai 
Expressway project. The report covers the period from December 11, 2024, to March 31, 2025.

Table 1: Alignment with Green Categories
Alignment with Green Categories

SEBI Green Debt 
Securities (GDS), 2023 (GBP), 2021

Framework for Sovereign 
Green Bond, 2022

(i) Biodiversity conservation i) Terrestrial & Aquatic 
biodiversity conservation

i) Terrestrial & Aquatic biodiversity 
conservation

(ii) Renewable and Sustainable energy 
including wind, bioenergy, other 
sources of energy which use clean 
technology

(ii) Renewable energy (ii) Renewable energy

(iii) Climate change adaptation 
including efforts to make infrastructure 
more resilient to impacts of climate 
change and information support 
systems such as climate observation 
and early warning systems

(iii) Environmentally sustainable 
management of living natural 
resources and land use

(iii) Climate change adaptation

(iv) Sustainable water management (iv) Sustainable water and waste 
water management

(iv) Sustainable water and waste 
water management

(v) Sustainable waste management 
including recycling, waste to energy, 
efficient disposal of wastage

(v) Pollution prevention and 
control projects

(v) Pollution prevention and control 
projects

Key Aspects of the Circular on Green Debt Securities, 2023:

The SEBI introduced the circular on Green Debt Securities (GDS), effective from April 1, 2023, encourages all 
the issuers of green debt securities to mobilise funds for green activities, requiring board-approved policies,
continuous disclosure requirements in annual report, mandating third-party verification and impact 
assessments.

Table 2: Key Aspects of Green Debt Securities, 2023 Circular
Key Features Description

Purpose To mobilise the funds towards green activities and projects, including renewable energy, 
green transport, and green buildings etc.

Effective Date April 1, 2023

Applicability All Issuers who have listed / propose to list green debt securities on recognised stock 
exchanges.

Interest Interest-bearing green debt securities are earmarked for allocation towards green finance. 

Disclosures Continuous disclosure of allocation details, impact reporting and major elements of BRSR in 
annual reports.

Third-Party 
Verification

The use of green debt securities must be verified by an independent third party reviewer.
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2. Opinion

Based on the evidence obtained and procedures performed (covering period from December 11, 2024, to 
March 31, 2025), nothing has come to attention that causes to believe that the 
DMEDL Green Bond is not, in all material respects, in conformity with:

SEBI Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023, Rules 2 to Rule 4.4

SEBI (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) Regulations 2021, Chapter IX

ICMA Green Bond Principles, 2021

Framework for Sovereign Green Bond, 2022

DMEDL raised 775 Crores on December 9, 2024. As of March 31, 2025, the entire proceeds have been fully 
deployed. The utilization has been independently verified by M/s AAAG & Co. LLP (Registration No. 
004924N). Allocation reporting and Impact reporting were found adequate and effective. 

3. Documents Examined

As part of the post-issuance verification process, the key documents listed in Table 3 were reviewed to 
evaluate compliance with applicable green bond standards and requirements.

Table 3: Documents Examined
Category Key Documents Date
Bond documentation Key Information Document (KID), Escrow Account 

Details
December 2024

Allocation evidence Statutory Auditors Report December 11, 2024 March 31, 
2025

Impact data Impact data (Performance against the KPIs) for 7 
packages

December 11, 2024 March 31, 
2025

Governance DMEDL BRSR December 11, 2024 March 31, 
2025

Regulatory 
Requirements & 
Alignment with 
Frameworks

SEBI NCS, 2021
DEA Framework for Sovereign Green Bond, 2022
SEBI GDS, 2023
ICMA Green Bond Principles, 2021

4. Stakeholder Consultations

The following stakeholder consultations (either through virtual meetings or telephonic conversations), 
detailed in Table 4, were conducted to support the verification of green bond compliance through review of 
reporting, performance metrics, and project-level documentation.

Table 4: Meetings / Telephonic Conversations
Date Stakeholder Focus
June 24, 2025 Team DMEDL Allocation Reporting
July 15, 2025 Team DMEDL BRSR 
July 29, 2025 Team DMEDL BRSR
August 07, 2025 Team DMEDL Impact Reporting
August 18, 2025 Team DMEDL Impact Reporting
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5. Regulatory Requirements and Alignment with Frameworks
The Table 5 and Table 6 below presents a comprehensive compliance review of DMEDL
against t , ICMA GBP, 2021 and 
Framework for Sovereign Green Bond, 2022. Each relevant clause has been assessed for adherence to regulatory 
expectations, with corresponding evidence provided to demonstrate DMEDL
effective fund utilisation, environmental impact reporting, and governance.
Table 5: Regulatory Compliance Mapping (SEBI GDS, 2023)

SEBI Green Debt Securities, 2023
Clause Requirement DMEDL Status Evidence
Rule 2 Definition of eligible green 

defined as debt raised for 
eligible green projects

DMEDL is dedicated to 
advancing sustainable 
infrastructure, with eligible 
green activities aligned under its 
Green Bond Framework.

DMEDL Bonds 
Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
2.1

Utilisation of the proceeds of 
the issue, as per the tracking 
done by the issuer using the 
internal process as disclosed in 
offer document. Utilisation of 
the proceeds shall be verified 
by the report of an external 
auditor, to verify the internal 
tracking method and the 
allocation of funds towards the 
project(s) and / or asset(s), from
the proceeds of green debt 
securities.

Rs. 775 Crores were utilised as 
on March 31, 2025. The said 
funds have been duly spent by 
NHAI.

on the Utilisation of proceeds of 
issue of Green Debt Securities 
certified by AAAG & CO. LLP 
(Registration No. 004924N) (UDIN: 
25522308BMJFGH7087) as on 
March 31, 2025. Refer Annexure 2

Rule 
2.2

Details of unutilised proceeds 
including the temporary 
placement  / utilisation of 
unallocated and Unutilised
proceeds from each ISIN of 
green debt security issued by 
the issuer

Not Applicable as 100% of the 
proceeds were utilised as on 
March 31, 2025.

on the Utilisation of proceeds of 
issue of Green Debt Securities 
certified by AAAG & CO. LLP 
(Registration No. 004924N)
(UDIN: 25522308BMJFGH7087) as 
on March 31, 2025. Refer
Annexure 2

Rule 
2.3 (a)

List of project(s) and/or asset(s) 
to which proceeds of the Green 
Debt Securities have been 
allocated/invested including a 
brief description of such 
project(s) and/or asset(s) and 
the amounts disbursed.

Green Bond issued by DMEDL is 
for construction of Delhi
Mumbai Expressway which is 
approx. 1,312 km long, 8-lane 
wide (expandable to 12-lane) 
under construction (at present) 
access-controlled expressway 
connecting India's national 
capital New Delhi to its financial 
capital Mumbai. The entire 
approx. 1,312 km long Delhi
Mumbai Expressway has been 
divided into 4 sections with a 
total of 51 construction 
packages/tenders, where the 

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.
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length of each package is 
between 8 km to 46 km.

Rule 
2.3 (b)

Qualitative performance 
indicators and, where feasible, 
quantitative performance 
measures of the environmental 
impact of the project(s) and/or
asset(s). If the quantitative 
benefits/impact cannot be 
ascertained, then the said fact 
may be appropriately disclosed 
along with the reasons for non-
ascertainment of the 
benefits/impact on the 
environment

Quantitative Performance 
Indicators have been decided 
and performance against these 
indicators as on March 31, 2025 
is disclosed in Annexure 3

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
2.3 (c)

Methods and the key 
underlying assumptions used 
in preparation of the 
performance indicators and 
metrics

measurable project outputs such 
as number of animal crossings, 
trees planted, solar poles
installed, drains constructed, 
waste reused, and rainwater 
harvested etc. Methods rely on 
physical counts, construction 
records, and cost tracking. 

Key assumptions include: Use of 
standard grid emission factors to 
estimate energy savings; average 
rainfall data for rainwater 
harvesting potential; and 
recognized conversion factors 
for waste reuse. 

These KPIs are aligned with 
industry standards and 
validated through regulatory 
compliance and external review.

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
3.1 (a)

External review pre-issue SPO conducted dated 
November, 2024

SPO Document

Rule 
3.1 (b)

Segregated account Dedicated escrow account 
maintained

Offer Document & Bank Account 
details provided by DMEDL

Rule 
3.1 (c)

Annual allocation report Disclosed as of March 31, 2025, 
covering the reporting period 
from December 11, 2024 to 
March 31, 2025.

on the Utilisation of proceeds of 
issue of Green Debt Securities 
certified by AAAG & CO. LLP 
(Registration No. 004924N)
(UDIN: 25522308BMJFGH7087) as 
on March 31, 2025. Refer 
Annexure 2
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Rule 
3.2

Verification of the internal 
tracking and impact reporting

The Finance Department of 
DMEDL is responsible for: (i) 
monitoring the fund inflow and; 
(ii) provide relevant information 
to the external auditors.

Key performance indicators 
have been identified, and 
performance will be monitored 
annually in line with the SEBI 
GDS requirement.

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
4.1

Decision-making process which 
it uses to determine the 
continuing eligibility of the 
project

The project evaluation and 
selection process involve an 
initial screening to assess 

eligibility criteria, followed by 
review and approval by 
DMEDL Chairman to ensure 
compliance with all eligibility 
requirements.

Framework dated November 
12, 2024.

Discussions with DMEDL
personnel

Rule 
4.2

Ensuring alignment of funded 
green projects with their 
documented green objectives.

The Board of Directors have 
delegated powers to Chairman, 
DMEDL to evaluate the Eligible 
Green Activities in-line with 

criteria to assess the project as an 

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
4.3

Utilise the proceeds only for the 
stated purpose, as disclosed in 
the offer document

DMEDL will use 100% of the 
proceeds from the green bond to 
reimburse (cost already 
incurred) the green activities 
expenditure aligned with green 
principles. A detailed list of 
eligible green activities is 
provided in Table 3 as a part of 

Framework.

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.

Rule 
4.4

Compliance with 

securities to avoid occurrences 
.

DMEDL

checklist; board-level oversight
(NHAI supervision on project-
level), and quantified negative 
externalities disclosure.

Framework dated November 12, 
2024.
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Table 6: Regulatory Compliance Mapping (Framework for Sovereign Green Bond, 2022 and ICMA GBP, 2021)
Framework for Sovereign Green Bond, 2022 and ICMA Green Bond Principles, 2021

Component DMEDL Status Evidence
Use of proceeds DMEDL is committed to developing 

sustainable infrastructure. The Framework 
outlines how DMEDL intends to utilize the 

sustainability goals and values. It also 
ensures transparency and disclosure to 
investors, supporting them in making 
informed investment decisions.

dated 
November 12, 2024.

Refer Table 1 for alignment of Green 
Categories with the industry standards

Process for 
evaluation and 
selection

The project evaluation and selection 
process involve an initial screening to 

eligibility criteria, followed by review and 

compliance with all eligibility 
requirements.

dated 
November 12, 2024.

Discussions with DMEDL personnel

Management of 
proceeds

The Finance Department of DMEDL is 
responsible for: (i) monitoring the fund 
inflow and; (ii) provide relevant 
information to the external auditors.

dated 
November 12, 2024.

Reporting DMEDL resorts to transparent (a) 
allocation of proceeds reporting and (b) 
impact report towards the construction of 
DME Project (Delhi Mumbai 
Expressway). Refer to Sec. 6 and Refer to 
Sec. 7 for further details.

dated 
November 12, 2024.

Utilisation of proceeds of issue of Green 
Debt Securities certified by AAAG & CO. 
LLP (Registration No. 004924N) (UDIN: 
25522308BMJFGH7087) as on March 31, 
2025. Refer Annexure 2

6. Allocation Reporting

The Table 7 summarizes use-of-proceeds details of DMEDL the allocation of net 
proceeds, project eligibility, and funding status. As of March 31, 2025, Rs. 775 crores has been utilised, refer 
to Annexure 2
criteria, with no refinancing involved.

Table 7: Use-of-Proceeds Assessment
Component DMEDL Status Remarks
Net proceeds Rs. 775 Crore -
Allocated as at March 31,
2025
(December 11, 2024 -
March 31, 2025)

Rs. 775 Crores 100% of proceeds have been utilised
towards reimbursement of NHAI
(parent entity of DMEDL). 

Please refer to Pg. of 2 and 5

Unallocated Proceeds Not Applicable DMEDL has used 100% of the 
proceeds from the green bond to 
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reimburse (cost already incurred) 
the green activities expenditure 
incurred by NHAI. Unallocated 
fund is monitored by trustee.

Projects funded Projects funded for green activities 
green finance 

framework for the c
such as 

Median Lane Plantation, Streetlights on 
renewable energy, Natural Stormwater 
drainage, Rainwater harvesting etc. 

Please refer Annexure 3 for the detailed 
breakup of funding these green activities.

DMEDL has raised Rs. 775 Crores 
as on December 11, 2024 through 
Green Bonds. It has been utilised in 
selected packages. Refer Annexure 
3. This amount has been utilised 
towards reimbursement to its 
parent entity NHAI .

Eligibility Meets SEBI NCS and GDS Regulations 
along 
Framework for Sovereign Green Bonds

Yes. Refer to Table 5 and Table 6

7. Impact Assessment 

Reporting Metrics (KPIs Selected):

Impact assessment to be conducted on annual basis, and report to be published. Core indicators are 
considered as per DMEDL Green Bond Framework. Refer Annexure 3 for Impact data (Performance 
against selected KPIs) as on March 31, 2025:

Table 8: Identified KPIs under framework
Sr. No. KPI (weighted average)

1 Animal underpasses / animal overpasses
2 Median Lane Plantation
3 Avenue plantation / Arboriculture
4 Street lights on renewable energy (solar) 
5 Natural stormwater drainage (including Lined and 

Unlined Drains)
6 Amrit Sarovar (Ponds) Construction 
7 Waste Recycling Fly Ash Utilization 
8 Waste Recycling Construction and Demolition 

waste (incl. inert / alternate material used)
9 Rainwater Harvesting

8. Management of Proceeds 

CareEdge Advisory has obtained evidences towards the presence of a separate escrow bank account 
for the proceeds received from the issue of Green Bonds. The account has been maintained with 
Canara Bank, New Delhi.

The Finance Department of DMEDL is responsible for: (i) monitoring the fund inflow and; (ii) provide 
relevant information to the external auditors.
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Between December 11, 2024 and March 31, 2025, DMEDL has deployed Rs. 775 crores of the proceeds 
towards construction of the Delhi Mumbai Expressway . Unallocated fund is monitored by 
trustee. The Debenture Trustee for this bond is .

9. BRSR Reporting

DMEDL the reporting period (December 11, 2024 March 31, 2025) is aligned with SEBI Circular 
SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023. The report includes disclosures on all relevant major 
essential indicators as specified by SEBI, covering environmental performance data, intensity metrics, and 
related initiatives. The BRSR is included as part of Annexure 4.

10. Conclusion

Based on the procedures performed, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe DMEDL
Green Bond fails to meet the requirements of SEBI GDS, 2023 Rule 2 to Rule 4.4 or diverges from the ICMA
GBP, 2021 and , 2022:

Allocation Reporting Use-of-Proceeds allocations have been reviewed and confirmed to align 
accurately with the audited financial statements, ensuring consistency and transparency.

Impact Reporting
demonstrating positive outcomes against the identified KPIs.

BRSR  DMEDL BRSR for reporting period (December 11, 2024 March 31, 2025) covers information 
on all the relevant major essential parameters as mandated by SEBI Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-
RACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/023, including data on environmental performance (including waste, water and 
electricity etc.), intensity ratios, and associated initiatives.

Allocation Reporting, (ii) Impact Reporting, and (iii) 
BRSR, as a part of their Annual Report are in line with extant market practices.
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Annexure 2
Allocation Reporting
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Annexure 3
Impact Reporting
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Annexure 4
BRSR
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Essential Indicators
1 Details of total energy consumption (in Joules or multiples) and energy intensity, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2024-25
(Current Financial 
Year)
(Giga Joules)

FY 2023-24
(Previous Financial Year)
(Giga Joules)

Total electricity consumption (A) 35.27* -

Total fuel consumption (B) - -
Energy consumption through 
other sources (C)

-

Total energy consumption 
(A+B+C)

35.27 -

Energy intensity per rupee of 
turnover
(Total energy consumed/ 
Turnover in crores)

0.016 -

Energy intensity (optional) - the 
relevant metric may be selected 
by the entity

- -

Note: * The reported electricity consumption is limited to usage within office premises.

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ 
evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external 
agency? (Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency

NA

2 Does the entity have any sites / facilities identified as 
designated consumers (DCs) under the Performance, 
Achieve and Trade (PAT) Scheme of the Government of 
India? (Y/N) If yes, disclose whether targets set under the 
PAT scheme have been achieved. In case targets have not 
been achieved, provide the remedial action taken, if any.

NA

3 Provide details of the following disclosures related to water, in the following format:
Parameter FY 2024-25

(Current Financial 
Year)

FY 2023-24
(Previous Financial Year)

Water withdrawal by source (in kilolitres)
(i) Surface water - -
(ii) Groundwater - -
(iii) Third party water 29.16* -

(iv) Seawater / desalinated water - -
(v) Others - -

Total volume of water 
withdrawal
(in kilolitres) (i + ii + iii + iv + v)

29.16 -

Total volume of water 
consumption
(in kilolitres)

29.16 -

Water intensity per rupee of 
turnover (Total water 
consumption / Turnover in 
crores)

0.013 -
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Water intensity (optional) the 
relevant metric may be selected 
by the entity

- -

Note: .
Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ 
evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external 
agency? (Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency

No

4 Has the entity implemented a mechanism for Zero Liquid 
Discharge? If yes, provide details of its coverage and 
implementation.

NA

5 Please provide details of air emissions (other than GHG emissions) by the entity, in the following format:
Parameter Please specify 

unit
FY 2024-25
(Current Financial 
Year)

FY 2023-24
(Previous 
Financial 
Year)

NOx µg/m3 Not applicable as the Company do 
not own any DG Sets.SOx

Particulate matter (PM)

Persistent organic pollutants (POP)
Volatile organic compounds (VOC)
Hazardous air pollutants (HAP)
Others please specify
Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out 
by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency

No

6 Provide details of greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions) & its intensity, in the 
following format:
Parameter Unit FY 2024-25

(Current Financial 
Year)

FY 2023-24
(Previous 
Financial 
Year)

Total Scope 1 emissions (Break-up of the GHG 
into CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, if 
available)

Metric Tons of 
Co2

Nil# -

Total Scope 2 emissions (Break-up of the GHG 
into CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, if 
available)

Metric Tons of 
Co2

7.12^ -

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions per rupee 
of turnover (Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG 
emissions / Turnover in crores)

Co2/ turnover 
(Cr.)

0.0032 -

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity 
(optional) the relevant metric may be selected 
by the entity

- - -

Note: #Company does not have any DG Set or owned vehicles, hence Scope 1 Emissions are nil.
^Scope 2 emissions account for electricity consumption within office premises.

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out 
by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency.

No

7 Does the entity have any project related to reducing 
Green House Gas emission? If Yes, then provide details. 

No

8 Provide details related to waste management by the entity, in the following format:
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Parameter FY 2024-25
(Current Financial 
Year)

FY 2023-24
(Previous Financial Year)

Total Waste generated (in metric tonnes)
Plastic waste (A) - -
E-waste (B) - -
Bio-medical waste (C) - -
Construction and demolition 
waste (D)

- -

Battery waste (E) - -
Radioactive waste (F) - -
Other Hazardous waste (Oil-
soaked cotton waste, DG filters, 
paint cans, chemical cans, paint 
residue, oil sludge, DG chimney 
soot, coolant oil and used oil) . 
Please specify, if any. (G)

- -

Other Non-hazardous waste 
generated (H). Please specify, if 
any. (Break-up by composition 
i.e. by materials relevant to the 
sector)

0.0432 -

Total (A+B + C + D + E + F + G + 
H) 

0.0432 -

Waste intensity per rupee of 
turnover (Total waste generated / 
Turnover in crores)

0.000019 -

Note: Waste generation is evaluated as per the National Building Code of India (2016) guidelines, using per 
capita waste generation norms for commercial refuse.
For each category of waste generated, total waste recovered through recycling, re-using or other recovery 
operations (in metric tonnes)
Category of waste
(i) Recycled - -
(ii) Re-used - -
(iii) Other recovery operations - -
Total - -
For each category of waste generated, total waste disposed by nature of disposal method (in metric 
tonnes)
Category of waste
(i) Incineration - -
(ii) Landfilling - -
(iii) Other disposal operations - -
Total - -
Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ 
evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external 
agency? (Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency

No

9 Briefly describe the waste management practices adopted 
in your establishments. Describe the strategy adopted by 
your company to reduce usage of hazardous and toxic 
chemicals in your products and processes and the 
practices adopted to manage such wastes.

As an SPV entity, the company has no 
manufacturing facilities or any large office set-
up. Consequently, waste generation is minimal 
and limited to office premises owned by 
NHAI. Hence, this issue is not material to the 
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10 If the entity has operations/offices in/around ecologically sensitive areas (such as national parks, wildlife 
sanctuaries, biosphere reserves, wetlands, biodiversity hotspots, forests, coastal regulation zones etc.) 
where environmental approvals / clearances are required, please specify details in the following format:
S. No Location of 

operations/offices
Type of 
operations

Whether the conditions of 
environmental approval / 
clearance are being complied 
with? (Y/N) If no, the reasons 
thereof and corrective action 
taken, if any

NA

11 Details of environmental impact assessments of projects undertaken by the entity based on applicable laws, 
in the current financial year:
Name and brief details of 
project

EIA 
Notification 
No.

Date Whether 
conducted 
by 
independent 
external 
agency (Yes 
/ No)

Results 
communicated 
in public 
domain (Yes / 
No)

Relevant 
Web link

NA

12 Is the entity compliant with the applicable environmental law/ regulations/ guidelines in India; such as the 
Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 
Environment protection act and rules thereunder (Y/N). If not, provide details of all such non-compliances, 
in the following format:
S. No Specify the 

law / 
regulation / 
guidelines 
which was 
not 
complied 
with

Provide
details of
the 
noncompliance

Any fines / penalties 
/ action taken by 
regulatory agencies 
such as pollution 
control boards or by 
courts

Corrective 
action taken, 
if any

-
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Disclaimer of Independent Third Party Reviewer:

1. Reliance on Issuer Information
The Verifier has relied exclusively on data, documentation and representations supplied by DME 
Development Ltd. (DMEDL) -
establish the accuracy or completeness of such information.

2. Scope of Review
The assurance engagement is strictly limited to evaluating the alignment of the reported allocation and 
environmental impact metrics with (i) SEBI (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) Regulations 
2021, (ii) the SEBI Master Circular on Green Debt Securities, (iii) the ICMA Green Bond Principles 2021 (with 
2022 Appendix) 

3. No Independent Verification of Financial Records
ion of financial statements in 

accordance with any generally accepted auditing or assurance standard. Accordingly, no assurance is 

4. No Investment Advice or Offer
Nothing in this report shall be construed as, or relied upon as, investment advice, a recommendation to 
transact in any security or an invitation to effect any transaction

5. No Credit Rating or Guarantee of Performance
ing, nor does it provide any guarantee or assurance 

regarding the future environmental or financial performance of the bond or the underlying projects.

6. Limited Assurance; No Duty of Care to Third Parties
The conclusions herein are expressed on a limited-assurance basis and are intended solely for the use of 
DMEDL and the bondholders. The Verifier accepts no duty of care and disclaims all liability to any other 
party that may access or rely upon this report, whether directly or indirectly.

7. Indemnification
DMEDL, its trustees and any person acting on its behalf shall indemnify and hold harmless the Verifier from 
and against all claims, losses, damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) arising out of or 
in connection with any inaccuracy, omission or non-compliance by DMEDL with applicable law or with the 
terms of its Green Bond Framework.

8. No Obligation to Update
The Verifier undertakes no responsibility to update, amend or supplement this report to reflect events or 
circumstances occurring after the date of issuance, including changes in methodology, regulation or market 
practice.

9. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
This report, and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it (whether contractual, tortious or 
otherwise), shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Indian law and shall be subject to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Mumbai.
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